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A note about copyright

Dear Customer
What does the little © mean and why does it matter?

Your market-leading BPP books, course materials and e-learning materials do not write and update
themselves. People write them: on their own behalf or as employees of an organisation that invests in this
activity. Copyright law protects their livelihoods. It does so by creating rights over the use of the content.

Breach of copyright is a form of theft — as well as being a criminal offence in some jurisdictions, it is
potentially a serious breach of professional ethics.

With current technology, things might seem a bit hazy but, basically, without the express permission of

BPP Learning Media:

e Photocopying our materials is a breach of copyright

e Scanning, ripcasting or conversion of our digital materials into different file formats, uploading them
to facebook or emailing them to your friends is a breach of copyright

You can, of course, sell your books, in the form in which you have bought them — once you have finished
with them. (Is this fair to your fellow students? We update for a reason.) But the e-products are sold on a
single user licence basis: we do not supply ‘unlock’ codes to people who have bought them second-hand.

And what about outside the UK? BPP Learning Media strives to make our materials available at prices
students can afford by local printing arrangements, pricing policies and partnerships which are clearly
listed on our website. A tiny minority ignore this and indulge in criminal activity by illegally photocopying
our material or supporting organisations that do. If they act illegally and unethically in one area, can you
really trust them?
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How the BPP ACCA-approved Study Text can help you
pass — AND help you with your Practical Experience
Requirement!

Before you can qualify as an ACCA member, you do not only have to pass all your exams but also fulfil a
three year practical experience requirement (PER). To help you to recognise areas of the syllabus that
you might be able to apply in the workplace to achieve different performance objectives, we have
introduced the ‘PER alert’ feature. You will find this feature throughout the Study Text to remind you that
what you are learning to pass your ACCA exams is equally useful to the fulfilment of the PER
requirement.

Studying can be a daunting prospect, particularly when you have lots of other commitments. The
different features of the text, the purposes of which are explained fully on the Chapter features page, will
help you whilst studying and improve your chances of exam success.

Our Texts are completely focused on helping you pass your exam.

Our advice on Studying F3 outlines the content of the paper, the necessary skills the examiner expects
you to demonstrate and any brought forward knowledge you are expected to have.

Exam focus points are included within the chapters to provide information about skills that you will need
in the exam and reminders of important points within the specific subject areas.

You can find the syllabus, Study Guide and other useful resources for F3 on the ACCA web site:
www.accaglobal.com/students/study_exams/qualifications/acca_choose/acca/fundamentals.

The Study Text covers all aspects of the syllabus to ensure you are as fully prepared for the exam as
possible.

Testing yourself helps you develop the skills you need to pass the exam and also confirms that you can
recall what you have learnt.

We include Exam-style Questions — lots of them - both within chapters and in the Exam Question Bank,
as well as Quick Quizzes at the end of each chapter to test your knowledge of the chapter content.

Introduction _



m Introduction

Chapter features

Each chapter contains a number of helpful features to guide you through each topic.

Topic list
Tells you what you will be studying in this chapter and the
relevant section numbers, together with the ACCA
syllabus references.

= Puts the chapter content in the context of the syllabus as

Introduction P y
a whole.

StUdv GUide Links the chapter content with ACCA guidance.

Highlights how examinable the chapter content is likely to
be and the ways in which it could be examined.

Summarises the content of main chapter headings,
FAST FORWARD ) ) ) . ) .
allowing you to preview and review each section easily.

Exam Guide

Demonstrate how to apply key knowledge and
techniques.

Examples

Definitions of important concepts that can often earn you

Key terms easy marks in exams.

Provide information about skills you will need in the exam
Exam focus points and reminders of important points within the specific
subject area.

Formulae that are not given in the exam but which have to

Formula to learn be learnt.

This is a new feature that gives you a useful indication of
syllabus areas that closely relate to performance
objectives in your PER.

Give you essential practice of techniques covered in the
chapter.

Provide real world examples of theories and techniques.

Chapter Roundup A full list of the Fast Forwards included in the chapter,

providing an easy source of review.

A quick test of your knowledge of the main topics in the
chapter.

Exam Question Bank Found at the back of the Study Text with more
comprehensive chapter questions.
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Studying F3

As the name suggests, this paper examines basic financial accounting topics and is fundamental for all
financial accountants.

The examiner for this paper is Nicola Ventress. She is a member of the ICAEW and an experienced
accounting and financial reporting author and tutor.

1 What F3 is ahout

Paper F3 aims to develop your knowledge and understanding of the underlying principles, concepts and
regulations relating to financial accounting. You will need to demonstrate technical proficiency in the use
of double entry techniques, including the preparation of basic financial statements for sole traders,
partnerships and limited liability companies. The skills you learn at F3 will be built upon in papers F7 and
P2.

2 What skills are required?

You are expected to demonstrate Level 1 skills throughout the syllabus. This means that you need to show
'knowledge and comprehension'. It is not sufficient to merely know the subject, you need to understand it
and show that you understand. Therefore you will need to not only know an accounting standard but also
show how to use it in practice.

Double entry bookkeeping is a basic skill that you will need throughout all the financial accounting papers.
Therefore it is essential that you master it at this stage or you will find the higher papers very difficult to
understand.

For paper F3, you also need to be able to prepare basic financial statements. Once again, your basic
knowledge from paper F3 will be built upon in papers F7 and P2. Therefore you must understand the
basics of preparing financial statements now.

3 How to improve your chances of passing

Examiners have repeatedly emphasised that students must know the whole syllabus. This is particularly
important for paper F3, as all fifty questions are compulsory and the examiner aims to cover most of the
syllabus. If you miss out a syllabus area, you will severely limit your chances of passing the exam.

Above all you must practise questions. The text gives you some exam style questions but you really need a
large question bank to practise on as given in BPP's Practice and Revision Kit. Do keep to the timing
specified. The exam is 2 hours for 90 marks, which means 1.3 minutes per mark or just over 2.5 minutes
for a 2 mark question. In the exam question bank we suggest that you allow 1 minute for a 1 mark
question and 2 minutes for a 2 mark question.

Introduction m



The exam paper

The exam is a two-hour paper.

There will be fifty questions and they are all compulsory. The format of the paper based Pilot Paper is 50
MCQs, 40 being 2 mark questions and 10 being 1 mark questions. The examiner has confirmed that this
will be the format for future exams.

All exams are marked by computer and so no marks will be given for workings.

Analysis of pilot paper

Number of marks
40 2 mark compulsory MCQs 80
10 1 mark compulsory MCQs 10
90

Computer based exam

You can also sit the exam as a computer based assessment. Feedback from students implies that the 40 2
mark questions are divided approximately 50:50 between MCQs and data entry style questions. Data entry
style questions may require you to enter the answer to a calculation or words to complete a sentence and
are very similar to the non-MCQ style questions found in the Quick Quizzes.

Technical articles

There have been a number of technical articles on exams in recent editions of Student Accountant.

Fundamental Knowledge, 7 February 2008 (why all the questions in Fundamentals level exams are
compulsory)

Be Prepared — multiple choice questions, 7 July 2008 (practical guidance on how to maximise marks in
MCQs)

Computer-based exams put to the test, 19 August 2008.

m Introduction @
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1 The purpose of financial reporting Al(a)
2 Types of business entity A1(b) - (d)
3 Nature, principles and scope of financial reporting Al(e)
4 Users' and stakeholders' needs A2(a)
5 The main elements of financial reports A3(a) - (b)

We will begin by looking at the aim of Paper F3, as laid out in ACCA's syllabus
and Study Guide and discussed already in the introductory pages to this text (if
you haven't read through the introductory pages, do so now — the information
in there is extremely important).

"Aim of Paper F3

To develop knowledge and understanding of the underlying principles
and concepts relating to financial accounting and technical proficiency
in the use of double-entry accounting techniques including the
preparation of basic financial statements.'

Before you learn how to prepare financial reports, it is important to understand
why they are prepared. Sections 1 — 3 of this chapter introduce some basic
ideas about financial reports and give an indication of their purpose. You will
also be introduced to the functions which accountants carry out: financial
accounting and management accounting. These functions will be developed in
detail in your later studies for the ACCA qualification.

Section 4 identifies the main users of financial statements and their needs.

Finally, in Section 5, we will look at the main financial statements: the
statement of financial position and the income statement; as well as the main
elements of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expense.

If you want to get free study material of CAT,
ACCA, CIMA, CFA, CIA visit : freefor911.wordpress.com




Study guide

Al The reasons for and objectives of financial reporting

(@) Define financial reporting — recording, analysing and summarising financial 1
data.

(b) Identify and define types of business entity — sole trader, partnership, 1
limited liability company.

(c) Recognise the legal differences between a sole trader, partnership and a 1
limited liability company.

(d) Identify the advantages and disadvantages of operating as a limited liability 1
company, sole trader or partnership.

(e) Understand the nature, principles and scope of financial reporting. 1

A2 Users' and stakeholders' needs

(@) Identify the users of financial statements and state and differentiate between 1
their information needs.

A3 The main elements of financial reports

(a) Understand and identify the purpose of each of the main financial 1
statements.

(b) Define and identify assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expense. 1

Exam guide

The exam consists of 10 1 mark and 40 2 mark MCQs. Any of the topics in this chapter could form the
basis of a 1 or 2 mark question.

Remember that all fifty questions are compulsory and will cover most of the syllabus. Therefore, do not
neglect these introductory topics. Just because the exam is composed of MCQs, do not assume that it is
easy (it's not). Also the format means that no method marks are available

Exam focus
point At the 2009 ACCA Teachers' Conference, the examiner reminded students that they need to study the full

breadth of the syllabus.

1 The purpose of financial reporting
1.1 What is financial reporting?
) Financial reporting is a way of recording, analysing and summarising financial data.
Financial data is the name given to the actual transactions carried out by a business eg sales of goods,
purchases of goods, payment of expenses.

These transactions are recorded in books of prime entry (which we will study in detail in Chapter 4).

The transactions are analysed in the books of prime entry and the totals are posted to the ledger accounts
(see Chapter 5).

Finally, the transactions are summarised in the financial statements, which we will meet in section 5 of
this chapter (and will study in detail in Chapter 6).

- 1: Introduction to accounting | PartA The context and purpose of financial reporting H’ //
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Financial reporting N

Financial reporting means the financial statements produced only by a large quoted company.
Is this statement correct?

A Yes
B No

The correct answer is B. Financial reporting is carried out by all businesses, no matter what their size or
structure. I

2 Types of husiness entity
2.1 What is a business?

Businesses of whatever size or nature exist to make a profit.

There are a number of different ways of looking at a business. Some ideas are listed below.

o A business is a commercial or industrial concern which exists to deal in the manufacture, re-sale
or supply of goods and services.
o A business is an organisation which uses economic resources to create goods or services which

customers will buy.

. A business is an organisation providing jobs for people.

o A business invests money in resources (for example: buildings, machinery, employees) in order to
make even more money for its owners.

This last definition introduces the important idea of profit. Businesses vary from very small businesses (the
local shopkeeper or plumber) to very large ones (ICl, IKEA, Corus). However all of them want to earn profits.

Profit is the excess of revenue (income) over expenditure. When expenditure exceeds revenue, the
business is running at a l0ss.

One of the jobs of an accountant is to measure revenue and expenditure, and so profit. It is not such a
straightforward problem as it may seem and in later chapters we will look at some of the theoretical and
practical difficulties involved.

2.2 Types of business entity

There are three main types of business entity.

o Sole traders
. Partnerships
o Limited liability companies

Sole traders are people who work for themselves. Examples include the local shopkeeper, a plumber and a
hairdresser. The term sole trader refers to the ownership of the business, sole traders can have employees.

Partnerships occur when two or more people decide to run a business together. Examples include an
accountancy practice, a medical practice and a legal practice.

Limited liability companies are incorporated to take advantage of 'limited liability' for their owners
(shareholders). This means that, while sole traders and partners are personally responsible for the

Part A The context and purpose of financial reporting | 1: Introduction to accounting _



amounts owed by their businesses, the shareholders of a limited liability company are only responsible for
the amount to be paid for their shares. Limited liability companies are dealt with in more detail in
Chapter 20.

In law sole traders and partnerships are not separate entities from their owners. However, a limited
liability company is legally a separate entity from its owners and it can issue contracts in the company’s
name.

For accounting purposes, all three entities are treated as separate from their owners. This is called the
business entity concept. We will see the practical consequence in Chapter 5.

2.3 Advantages of trading as a limited liability company

(a)  Limited liability makes investment less risky than investing in a sole trader or partnership.
However, lenders to a small company may ask for a shareholder's personal guarantee to secure
any loans.

(b) Itis easier to raise finance because of limited liability and there is no limit on the number of
shareholders.

(c)  Alimited liability company has a separate legal identity from its shareholders. So a company
continues to exist regardless of the identity of its owners. In contrast, a partnership ceases, and a
new one starts, whenever a partner joins or leaves the partnership.

(d)  There are tax advantages to being a limited liability company. The company is taxed as a separate
entity from its owners and the tax rate on companies may be lower than the tax rate for individuals.

(e) It is relatively easy to transfer shares from one owner to another. In contrast, it may be difficult to
find someone to buy a sole trader's business or to buy a share in a partnership.

2.4 Disadvantages of trading as a limited liability company

(@)  Limited liability companies have to publish annual financial statements. This means that anyone
(including competitors) can see how well (or badly) they are doing. In contrast, sole traders and
partnerships do not have to publish their financial statements.

(b)  Limited liability company financial statements have to comply with legal and accounting
requirements. In particular the financial statements have to comply with accounting standards.
Sole traders and partnerships may comply with accounting standards, but are not compelled to do
S0.

(c)  The financial statements of larger limited liability companies have to be audited. This means that
the statements are subject to an independent review to ensure that they comply with legal
requirements and accounting standards. This can be inconvenient, time consuming and expensive.

(d)  Share issues are regulated by law. For example, it is difficult to reduce share capital. Sole traders
and partnership can increase or decrease capital as and when the owners wish.

3 Nature, principles and scope of financial reporting

) You should be able to distinguish the following:

. Financial accounting
o Management accounting

You may have a wide understanding of what accounting and financial reporting is about. Your job may be in one
area or type of accounting, but you must understand the breadth of work which an accountant undertakes.

3.1 Financial accounting

So far in this chapter we have dealt with financial accounts. Financial accounting is mainly a method of
reporting the results and financial position of a business. It is not primarily concerned with providing
information towards the more efficient running of the business. Although financial accounts are of interest

- 1: Introduction to accounting | PartA The contextand purpose of financial reporting @
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to management, their principal function is to satisfy the information needs of persons not involved in
running the business. They provide historical information. T

3.2 Management accounting

The information needs of management go far beyond those of other account users. Managers have the
responsibility of planning and controlling the resources of the business. Therefore they need much more
detailed information. They also need to plan for the future (eg budgets, which predict future revenue and
expenditure).

Management (or cost) accounting is a management information system which analyses data to provide
information as a basis for managerial action. The concern of a management accountant is to present
accounting information in the form most helpful to management. —

You need to understand this distinction between management accounting and financial accounting.

Accountants

They say that America is run by lawyers and Britain is run by accountants, but what do accountants do in
your organisation or country? Before moving on to the next section, think of any accountants you know
and the kind of jobs they do.

4 Users' and stakeholders' needs
4.1 The need for financial statements

There are various groups of people who need information about the activities of a business.

Why do businesses need to produce financial statements? If a business is being run efficiently, why
should it have to go through all the bother of accounting procedures in order to produce financial
information?

The International Accounting Standards Board states in its document Framework for the preparation and
presentation of financial statements (which we will examine in detail later in this Study Text):

‘The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance
and changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic
decisions.'

In other words, a business should produce information about its activities because there are various
groups of people who want or need to know that information. This sounds rather vague: to make it clearer,
we will study the classes of people who need information about a business. We need also to think about
what information in particular is of interest to the members of each class.

Large businesses are of interest to a greater variety of people and so we will consider the case of a large
public company, whose shares can be purchased and sold on a stock exchange.

4.2 Users of financial statements and accounting information

The following people are likely to be interested in financial information about a large company with listed
shares.

(@)  Managers of the company appointed by the company's owners to supervise the day-to-day
activities of the company. They need information about the company's financial situation as it is

Part A The context and purpose of financial reporting | 1: Introduction to accounting _



currently and as it is expected to be in the future. This is to enable them to manage the business
efficiently and to make effective decisions.

(b)  Shareholders of the company, ie the company's owners, want to assess how well the
management is performing. They want to know how profitable the company's operations are and
how much profit they can afford to withdraw from the business for their own use.

(c)  Trade contacts include suppliers who provide goods to the company on credit and customers who
purchase the goods or services provided by the company. Suppliers want to know about the company's
ability to pay its debts; customers need to know that the company is a secure source of supply and is in
no danger of having to close down.

(d)  Providers of finance to the company might include a bank which allows the company to operate
an overdraft, or provides longer-term finance by granting a loan. The bank wants to ensure that the
company is able to keep up interest payments, and eventually to repay the amounts advanced.

(e)  The taxation authorities want to know about business profits in order to assess the tax payable by
the company, including sales taxes.

) Employees of the company should have a right to information about the company's financial
situation, because their future careers and the size of their wages and salaries depend on it.

(9)  Financial analysts and advisers need information for their clients or audience. For example,
stockbrokers need information to advise investors; credit agencies want information to advise
potential suppliers of goods to the company; and journalists need information for their reading
public.

(h)  Government and their agencies are interested in the allocation of resources and therefore in the
activities of business entities. They also require information in order to provide a basis for national
statistics.

(i) The public. Entities affect members of the public in a variety of ways. For example, they may make
a substantial contribution to a local economy by providing employment and using local suppliers.
Another important factor is the effect of an entity on the environment, for example as regards
pollution.

Accounting information is summarised in financial statements to satisfy the information needs of these
different groups. Not all will be equally satisfied.

4.3 Needs of different users

Managers of a business need the most information, to help them make their planning and control
decisions. They obviously have 'special' access to information about the business, because they are able
to demand whatever internally produced statements they require. When managers want a large amount of
information about the costs and profitability of individual products, or different parts of their business,
they can obtain it through a system of cost and management accounting.

Information for managers

Which of the following statements is particularly useful for managers?

A Financial statements for the last financial year
B Tax records for the past five years

C Budgets for the coming financial year

D Bank statements for the past year

The correct answer is C. Managers need to look forward and make plans to keep the business profitable.
Therefore the most useful information for them would be the budgets for the coming financial year.

- 1: Introduction to accounting | PartA The contextand purpose of financial reporting @
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In addition to management information, financial statements are prepared (and perhaps published) for the
benefit of other user groups, which may demand certain information. T

(@)  The national laws of a country may provide for the provision of some accounting information for
shareholders and the public.

(b)  National taxation authorities will receive the information they need to make tax assessments.

(c) A bank might demand a forecast of a company's expected future cash flows as a pre-condition of
granting an overdraft.

(d)  The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has been responsible for issuing
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs and IASs) and these require companies to
publish certain additional information. Accountants, as members of professional bodies, are placed
under a strong obligation to ensure that company financial statements conform to the requirements
of IFRS/IAS. E——

(e)  Some companies provide, voluntarily, specially prepared financial information for issue to their
employees. These statements are known as 'employee reporis'.

The needs of users can easily be examined by means of a MCQ. For example, you could be given a list of
types of information and asked which user group would be most interested in this information.

5 The main elements of financial reports

The principle financial statements of a business are the statement of financial position and the income
statement.

5.1 Statement of financial position

The statement of financial position is simply a /ist of all the assets owned and all the /iabilities owed by a
business as at a particular date. It is a snapshot of the financial position of the business at a particular moment.
Monetary amounts are attributed to each of the assets and liabilities.

5.1.1 Assets

An asset is something valuable which a business owns or has the use of.

Examples of assets are factories, office buildings, warehouses, delivery vans, lorries, plant and machinery,
computer equipment, office furniture, cash and goods held in store awaiting sale to customers.

Some assets are held and used in operations for a long time. An office building is occupied by
administrative staff for years; similarly, a machine has a productive life of many years before it wears out.

Other assets are held for only a short time. The owner of a newsagent shop, for example, has to sell his
newspapers on the same day that he gets them. The more quickly a business can sell the goods it has in
store, the more profit it is likely to make; provided, of course, that the goods are sold at a higher price than
what it cost the business to acquire them.

5.1.2 Liabilities

A liability is something which is owed to somebody else. 'Liabilities' is the accounting term for the debts
of a business.

Examples of liabilities are amounts owed to a supplier for goods bought on credit, amounts owed to a
bank (or other lender), a bank overdraft and amounts owed to tax authorities (eg in respect of sales tax).

Some liabilities are due to be repaid fairly quickly eg suppliers. Other liabilities may take some years to
repay (eg a bank loan).

Part A The context and purpose of financial reporting | 1: Introduction to accounting _



5.1.3 Capital or equity

The amounts invested in a business by the owner are amounts that the business owes to the owner. This
is a special kind of liability, called capital. In a limited liability company, capital usually takes form of
shares. Share capital is also known as equity.

5.1.4 Form of statement of financial position

A statement of financial position used to be called a balance sheet. The former name is apt because assets
will always be equal to liabilities plus capital (or equity). A very simple statement of financial position for a
sole trader is shown below.

A TRADER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 APRIL 20X7

$ $

Assets
Plant and machinery 55,000
Inventory 5,000
Receivables (from customers) 1,500
Bank 500

7,000
Total assets 62,000
Capital
Balance brought forward 25,000
Profit for the year 10,400
Balance carried forward 35,400
Liabilities
Bank loan 25,000
Payables (to suppliers) 1,600
Total capital plus liabilities 62,000

We will be looking at a statement of financial position in a lot more detail later in this Study Text. This
example is given simply to illustrate what a statement of financial position looks like.

5.2 Income statement

Key term An income statement is a record of revenue generated and expenditure incurred over a given period. The

statement shows whether the business has had more revenue than expenditure (a profit) or vice versa
(loss).

5.2.1 Revenue and expenses

Revenue is the income for a period. The expenses are the costs of running the business for the same
period.

5.2.2 Form of income statement

The period chosen will depend on the purpose for which the statement is produced. The income statement
which forms part of the published annual financial statements of a limited liability company will usually
be for the period of a year, commencing from the date of the previous year's statements. On the other
hand, management might want to keep a closer eye on a company's profitability by making up quarterly
or monthly statements.

A simple income statement for a sole trader is shown on the next page.
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A TRADER
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 20X7 7

$
Revenue 150,000
Cost of sales 75,000
Gross profit 75,000
Other expenses 64,600
Net profit 10,400

Once again, this example is given purely for illustrative purposes. We will be dealing with an income
statement in detail later in this Study Text.

5.3 Purpose of financial statements

Both the statement of financial position and the income statement are summaries of accumulated data.
For example, the income statement shows a figure for revenue earned from selling goods to customers.
This is the total amount of revenue earned from all the individual sales made during the period. One of the
jobs of an accountant is to devise methods of recording such individual transactions, so as to produce
summarised financial statements from them.

The statement of financial position and the income statement form the basis of the financial statements of
most businesses. For limited liability companies, other information by way of statements and notes may
be required by national legislation and/or accounting standards, for example a statement of
comprehensive income and a statement of cash flows. These are considered in detail later in this Study
Text.

j Accounting information

The financial statements of a limited liability company will consist solely of the statement of financial
position and income statement.

Is this statement correct?

A True
B False

The correct answer is B. As shown above other statements, such as a statement of cash flows, are usually
needed.

One of the competences you require to fulfil performance objective 4 of the PER is the ability to prioritise
PERalerly  and plan your work to meet objectives, managing conflicting pressures and making best use of time and
resources. In the course of your F3 studies, you will be demonstrating this competence.
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Chapter Roundup

. Financial reporting is a way of recording, analysing and summarizing financial data.
o Businesses of whatever size or nature exist to make a profit.

o You should be able to distinguish the following.

- Financial accounting
= Management accounting

o There are various groups of people who need information about the activities of a business.

o The principal financial statements of a business are the statement of financial position and the income
statement.

1 What is financial reporting?
2 A business entity is owned and run by Alpha, Beta and Gamma.
What type of business is this an example of?
A Sole trader
B Partnership
C Limited liability company
D Don't know
3 Identify seven user groups who need accounting information.
What are the two main financial statements drawn up by accountants?
5 Which of the following is an example of a liability?

A Inventory

B Receivables

C Plant and machinery
D Loan

Answers to Quick Quiz

1 A way of recording, analysing and summarising financial data.
2 B. A partnership, as it is owned and run by 3 people.

3 See paragraph 4.2.

4 The income statement and the statement of financial position.
5 D. A loan. The rest are all assets.

Now try the question below from the Exam Question Bank

Q1 Examination 2 2 mins
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The regulatory
framework

Topic list Syllabus reference

1 The regulatory system Ad(a)
2 The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Ad4(a)
3 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
and International Accounting Standards (IASs) A4(b)
Introduction

In this chapter, we introduce the regulatory system run by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). We are concerned with the IASB's
relationship with other bodies, and with the way the IASB operates.

You must try to understand and appreciate the contents of this chapter. The
examiner is not only interested in whether you can add up; she wants to know
whether you can think about a subject which, after all, is your future career.
This chapter can and will be examined.




Study guide

Ad The regulatory framework

(a) Understand the role of the regulatory system including the roles of the 1
International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation (IASCF), the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the Standards Advisory
Council (SAC) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC).

(b) Understand the role of the International Financial Reporting Standards. 1

Exam guide

These ideas are fundamental to your studies and valuable background information. Expect at least one
MCQ on the standard setting process or the regulatory system. The examiner is also likely to test you on
the different bodies and their relationships. This is an area that is consistently answered badly in the
exam.

1 The regulatory system

) A number of factors have shaped the development of financial accounting.

1.1 Introduction

Although new to the subject, you will be aware from your reading of the press that there have been some
considerable upheavals in financial reporting, mainly in response to criticism. The details of the regulatory
framework of accounting, and the technical aspects of the changes made, will be covered later in this
chapter and in your more advanced studies. The purpose of this section is to give a general picture of
some of the factors which have shaped financial accounting. We will concentrate on the accounts of
limited liability companies, as these are the accounts most closely regulated by statute or otherwise.

The following factors can be identified.

. National/local legislation

o Accounting concepts and individual judgement
o Accounting standards

o Other international influences

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
o Fair presentation

1.2 National/local legislation

Limited liability companies may be required by law to prepare and publish accounts annually. The form
and content of the accounts may be regulated primarily by national legislation, but must also comply with
International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

1.3 Accounting concepts and individual judgement

) Many figures in financial statements are derived from the application of judgement in applying
fundamental accounting assumptions and conventions. This can lead to subjectivity.

Financial statements are prepared on the basis of a number of fundamental accounting assumptions and
conventions. Many figures in financial statements are derived from the application of judgement in putting
these assumptions into practice.
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It is clear that different people exercising their judgement on the same facts can arrive at very different
conclusions.

An accountancy training firm has an excellent reputation amongst students and employers. How would
you value this? The firm may have relatively little in the form of assets that you can touch, perhaps a
building, desks and chairs. If you simply drew up a statement of financial position showing the cost of the
assets owned, then the business would not seem to be worth much, yet its income earning potential might
be high. This is true of many service organisations where the people are among the most valuable assets.

Other examples of areas where the judgement of different people may vary are as follows.

(@)  Valuation of buildings in times of rising property prices.

(b)  Research and development: is it right to treat this only as an expense? In a sense it is an
investment to generate future revenue.

(c)  Accounting for inflation.

(d)  Brands such as 'Snickers' or 'Walkman'. Are they assets in the same way that a fork lift truck is an
asset?

Working from the same data, different groups of people produce very different financial statements. If the
exercise of judgement is completely unfettered, there will be no comparability between the accounts of
different organisations. This will be all the more significant in cases where deliberate manipulation occurs,
in order to present accounts in the most favourable light.

1.4 Accounting standards

In an attempt to deal with some of the subjectivity, and to achieve comparability between different
organisations, accounting standards were developed. These are developed at both a national level (in
most countries) and an international level. In this text we are concerned with International Accounting
Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

1.4.1 International Financial Reporting Standards and the IASB

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are produced by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). The IASB develops IFRSs through an international process that involves the
world-wide accountancy profession, the preparers and users of financial statements, and national
standard setting bodies. Prior to 2003 standards were issued as International Accounting Standards
(IASs). In 2003 IFRS 1 was issued and all new standards are now designated as IFRSs. Throughout this
Study Text, we will use the abbreviation IFRSs to include both IFRSs and IASs.

The objectives of the IASB are:

(@)  To develop, in the public interest, a single set of high quality, understandable and enforceable
global accounting standards that require high quality, transparent and comparable information in
financial statements and other financial reporting to help participants in the world's capital markets
and other users make economic decisions.

(b)  To promote the use and rigorous application of those standards.

(c)  To bring about convergence of national accounting standards and International Financial
Reporting Standards to high quality solutions.

In the UK the consolidated accounts of listed companies have had to be produced in accordance with IFRS
from January 2005.
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1.4.2 Standards Advisory Council (SAC)

The Standards Advisory Council assists the IASB in standard setting. It has about 50 members drawn
from organisations all over the world, such as national standard—setting bodies, accountancy firms, the
IMF and the World Bank.

The SAC meets the IASB at least three times a year and puts forward the views of its members on current
standard—setting projects.
1.4.3 International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IFRIC was set up in December 2001 and issues guidance in cases where unsatisfactory or conflicting
interpretations of accounting standards have developed. In these situations, IFRIC works closely with
similar national committees with a view to reaching consensus on the appropriate accounting treatment.

1.4.4 The International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation (IASCF)

The IASCF is an independent body that oversees the IASB. It was formed as a not-for-profit corporation in

the USA.
IASCF
A4 A 4
IASB SAC
v
IFRIC
Exam focus
point

In the December 2007 exam, there was a 1 mark MCQ on the roles of the IASB and its associated bodies.
The examiner commented that there was roughly an even split between the two options, suggesting that
this area 'is not given adequate attention'. The examiner also commented that she regards this area to be
an important part of the F3 syllabus.

1.4.5 The use and application of 1ASs and IFRSs

IASs and IFRSs have helped to both improve and harmonise financial reporting around the world. The
standards are used in the following ways.

(@)  As national requirements, often after a national process

(b)  As the basis for all or some national requirements

(c)  As an international benchmark for those countries which develop their own requirements
(d) By regulatory authorities for domestic and foreign companies

(e) By companies themselves

1.4.6 Benchmark and allowed alternatives

IASs often allowed more than one accounting treatment (a benchmark (or preferred) treatment and an
allowed alternative). Recent IFRSs and amendments to |ASs have sought to disallow alternative
treatments.

1.5 Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP)

We also need to consider some important terms which you will meet in your financial accounting studies.
GAAP, as a term, has sprung up in recent years and signifies all the rules, from whatever source, which
govern accounting.
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Key term GAAP is a set of rules governing accounting. The rules may derive from:

o Local (national) company legislation

. National and international accounting standards

) Statutory requirements in other countries (particularly the US)
. Stock exchange requirements

1.6 Fair presentation

) Financial statements are required to give a fair presentation or present fairly in all material respects the
financial results of the entity. These terms are not defined and tend to be decided in courts of law on
the facts.

It is a requirement of both national legislation (in some countries) and International Standards on Auditing
that the financial statements should give a fair presentation of the financial position of the entity as at the
end of the financial year.

1.6.1 Fair presentation 'override’

The term fair presentation is not defined in accounting or auditing standards. Despite this, a company's
managers may depart from any of the provisions of accounting standards if these are inconsistent with the
requirement to give a fair presentation. This is commonly referred to as the ' fair presentation override'. It
has been treated as an important loophole in the law in different countries and has been the cause of much
argument and dissatisfaction within the accounting profession.

2 The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

) The main objectives of the IASB are to raise the standard of financial reporting and to eventually bring
about global harmonisation of accounting standards.

2.1 International harmonisation

The IASB is an independent private sector body. Its objective is to achieve uniformity in the accounting
principles which are used by businesses and other organisations for financial reporting around the world.
This is known as international harmonisation.

2.2 Gurrent position of the IASB

There were 41 |ASs, as well as the Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements,
(which is discussed in Chapter 3). A substantial number of multinational companies prepare financial
statements in accordance with IASs. IASs are also endorsed by many countries as their own standards,
either unchanged or with minor amendments. The IASB has adopted the extant IASs and issued 8 IFRSs.
From 1 January 2005 listed companies in the EU have been required to prepare consolidated accounts
in accordance with IFRS.

3 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

and International Accounting Standards (IASs)

) In this section, we examine the process by which IFRSs are created and we will list the full range of IFRSs
currently in force, so you can place the standards you will study into context.
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3.1 Standard setting process

The IASB prepares IFRSs in accordance with due process. You do not need to know this for your exam,

but the following diagram may be of interest.

The procedure can be summarised as follows.

‘ Consultative Group ‘

J
‘ Board ‘
On acceptance J

Steering Committee (chaired |—| Discussion document
by board members)

\J

| Exposure draft

\J

| IFRS

3.1.1 Current 1ASs/IFRSs

The current list is as follows. Those examinable in Paper F3 are highlighted™*.

IAS 1* Presentation of financial statements
IAS 2* Inventories

IAS 7* Statement of cash flows

IAS 8* Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
IAS 10* Events after the reporting period
IAS 11 Construction contracts

IAS 12 Income taxes

IAS 16* Property, plant and equipment

IAS 17 Leases

IAS 18* Revenue

IAS 19 Employee benefits

8 Board members approval

8 Board members approval

IAS 20 Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance

IAS 21 The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
IAS 23 Borrowing costs

IAS 24 Related party disclosures

IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements

IAS 28 Investments in associates
IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
IAS 31 Interests in joint ventures

IAS 32 Financial instruments: presentation

IAS 33 Earnings per share

IAS 34 Interim financial reporting

IAS 36 Impairment of assets

IAS 37* Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
IAS 38* Intangible assets

IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
IAS 40 Investment property

IAS 41 Agriculture
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Notes

IAS 37 Only paragraphs 10, 27-35, 85-92, Appendices A and B are examinable in so far as they
relate to contingent liabilities and contingent assets

IAS 38 Only paragraphs 7, 39-47, 55, 79, 88, 107 and 115 relating to R & D are examinable
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements*

[FRS 1 First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS 2 Share based payment

IFRS 3 Business combinations

IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

IFRS 6 Exploration for the evaluation of mineral resources

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disclosures

IFRS 8 Operating segments I

Various exposure drafts and discussion papers are currently at different stages within the IFRS process,
but these are not of concern to you at this stage. By the end of your financial accounting studies, however,
you will know all the standards, exposure drafts and discussion papers!

Standards 1

Why do you think that those standards highlighted above have been included in your syllabus?

These standards affect the content and format of almost all financial statements. You therefore need to
know about them in order to prepare a basic set of accounts. Most of the other standards will only affect
larger and more complex organisations.

3.2 Interpretation of 1ASs/IFRSs - IFRIC

The IASB has now also developed a procedure for issuing interpretations of its standards. In March 2002
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) was set up.

The IFRIC will consider accounting issues that are likely to receive divergent or unacceptable treatment in
the absence of authoritative guidance. Its review will be within the context of existing IASs/IFRSs and the
IASB Framework.

The IFRIC will deal with issues of reasonably widespread importance, and not issues of concern to only a
small set of enterprises. The interpretations will cover both:

(@)  Mature issues (unsatisfactory practice within the scope of existing standards).

(b)  Emerging issues (new topics relating to an existing standard but not actually considered when the
standard was developed).

In developing interpretations, the 11-person IFRIC will work closely with similar national committees. If it
reached consensus on an interpretation the IFRIC will ask the Board to approve the interpretation for
issue. Interpretations will be formally published after approval by the Board.

3.3 Scope and application of IASs and IFRS

3.3.1 Scope

Any limitation of the applicability of a specific IAS or IFRS is made clear within that standard. IASs/IFRSs
are not intended to be applied to immaterial items, nor are they retrospective. Each individual standard
lays out its scope at the beginning of the standard.

Part A The context and purpose of financial reporting | 2: The regulatory framework m



3.3.2 Application

Within each individual country local regulations govern, to a greater or lesser degree, the issue of
financial statements. These local regulations include accounting standards issued by the national
regulatory bodies and/or professional accountancy bodies in the country concerned.

The IASB concentrates on essentials when producing standards. This means that the IASB tries not to
make standards too complex, because otherwise they would be impossible to apply on a worldwide basis.

% Standards 2

How far do the accounting standards in force in your country diverge from the IFRSs you will cover in this
text?

If you have the time and energy, perhaps you could find out.

3.4 Worldwide effect of international standards and the IASB

As far as Europe is concerned, the consolidated financial statements of many of Europe's top
multinationals are prepared in conformity with national requirements, EC directives and IASs/IFRSs.
Furthermore, IFRSs are having a growing influence on national accounting requirements and practices.
Many of these developments have been given added impetus by the internationalisation of capital markets.
There was a 2005 deadline for implementation of IASs/IFRSs.

In Japan, the influence of the IASB had, until recently, been negligible. This was mainly because of links in
Japan between tax rules and financial reporting. The Japanese Ministry of Finance set up a working
committee to consider whether to bring national requirements into line with IFRSs. The Tokyo Stock
Exchange has now announced that it will accept financial statements from foreign issue that conform with
home country standards. This was widely seen as an attempt to attract foreign issuers, in particular
companies from Hong Kong and Singapore. As these countries base their accounting on international
standards, this action is therefore implicit acknowledgement by the Japanese Ministry of Finance of IFRS
requirements.

America and Japan have been two of the developed countries which have been most reluctant to accept
accounts prepared under IFRSs, but recent developments suggest that such financial statements may
soon be acceptable on these important stock exchanges.

In America, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) agreed in 1993 to allow foreign issuers (of
shares, etc) to follow IFRS treatments on certain issues, including statement of cash flows under IAS 7.
The overall effect is that, where IASB treatments differ from US GAAP, these treatments will now be
acceptable. The SEC is now supporting the IASB because it wants to attract foreign listings.

Now that you are aware of the workings and impact of the IASB, we will spend the rest of this chapter
looking at some of the problems and criticisms which the IASB is faced with, and how it has tackled some
of them. We begin at the end of this section by looking at the problem of choice in IASs/ IFRSs.

3.5 Accounting standards and choice

It is sometimes argued that companies should be given a choice in matters of financial reporting on the
grounds that accounting standards are detrimental to the quality of such reporting. There are arguments
on both sides.

In favour of accounting standards (both national and international), the following points can be made.

(@)  They reduce or eliminate confusing variations in the methods used to prepare accounts.

(b)  They provide a focal point for debate and discussions about accounting practice.

(c)  They oblige companies to disclose the accounting policies used in the preparation of accounts.
(d)  They are a less rigid alternative to enforcing conformity by means of legislation.
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Chapter Roundup

(e)  They have obliged companies to disclose more accounting information than they would otherwise
have done if accounting standards did not exist, for example IAS 33 Earnings
per share.

Many companies are reluctant to disclose information which is not required by national legislation.
However, the following arguments may be put forward against standardisation and in favour of choice.

(@)  Asetof rules which give backing to one method of preparing accounts might be inappropriate in
some circumstances.

(b)  Standards may be subject to lobbying or government pressure (in the case of national standards).
For example, in the USA, the accounting standard FAS 19 on the accounts of oil and gas companies

led to a powerful lobby of oil companies, which persuaded the SEC (Securities and Exchange
Commission) to step in. FAS 19 was then suspended.

(c)  Many national standards are not based on a conceptual framework of accounting, although IASs
and IFRSs are (see Chapter 3).

(d)  There may a trend towards rigidity, and away from flexibility in applying the rules.

The examiner has indicated that, while Sections 3.4 and 3.5 give useful background information, you are
unlikely to be directly examined on these points.

A number of factors have shaped the development of financial accounting.

Many figures in financial statements are derived from the application of judgement in applying
fundamental accounting assumptions and conventions. This can lead to subjectivity.

Financial statements are required to give a true and fair view or present fairly in all material respects
the financial results of the entity. These terms are not defined and tend to be decided in courts of law on
the facts.

The main objectives of the IASB are to raise the standard of financial reporting and to eventually bring
about global harmonisation of accounting standards.

In this section, we examine the process by which IFRSs are created and we will list the full range of IFRSs
currently in force, so you can place the standards you will study into context.

B
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What are the objectives of the IASB?

A To enforce IFRSs
B To issue IFRSs

What development at the IASB aids users' interpretation of IFRSs?

Which of the following arguments is not in favour of accounting standards, but is in favour of accounting
choice?

A They reduce variations in methods used to produce accounts
B They oblige companies to disclose their accounting policies
C They are a less rigid alternative to legislation

D They may tend towards rigidity in applying the rules

What happened in 2005 for listed companies in the EU?

A IFRSs to be used for all financial statements
B IFRSs to be used for consolidated financial statements

The IASB guides the standard setting process. True or false?
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1 B The IASB has no powers of enforcement.

2 The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).
3 D The other arguments are all in favour of accounting standards.

4 B IFRSs to be used in consolidated financial statements.

5 True. The IASB is responsible for the standard setting process.

Now try the question below from the Exam Question Bank

Q2

Examination

1 min
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Accounting
conventions

Topic list Syllabus reference

1 Background B1(a)
2 IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements B1(a)
3 The IASB's Framework B1(a) - (b)
4 Criticisms of accounting conventions B1(b)
5 Bases of valuation B2(a) - (b)
6 IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting

estimates and errors B2() = (d)

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to encourage you to think more deeply about the
assumptions on which financial statements are prepared.

This chapter deals with the accounting conventions which lie behind accounts
preparation and which you will meet in Part C in the chapters on bookkeeping.

In Part D, you will see how conventions and assumptions are
put into practice. You will also deal with certain items which are the subject of
accounting standards.

The first part of this chapter deals with two important standards: IAS 1 and the
Framework. Do not neglect these sections as they contain very important
basic ideas which underlie the whole of accounting.

In the second half of this chapter, you will consider the bases of valuation of
items in the financial statements and IAS 8 on changes in accounting policies.




Study guide

B1 The qualitative characteristics of financial reporting
(a) Define, understand and apply accounting concepts and qualitative 1
characteristics:

i) Fair presentation

ii) Going concern

iii) Accruals

iv) Consistency

V) Materiality

Vi) Relevance

vii) Reliability

viii) | Faithful representation

X) Neutrality

Xi) Prudence

Xii) Completeness

xiii) | Comparability

xiv) | Understandability

XV) Business entity concept

(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(
(ix) Substance over form
(
(
(
(
(
(
(

b) Understand the balance between qualitative characteristics. 1

B2 Alternative bases used in the preparation of financial information

(@) Identify and explain the main characteristics of alternative valuation bases 1
eg historical cost, replacement cost, net realisable value, economic value.

(b) Understand the advantages and disadvantages of historical cost accounting. 1

(c) Understand the provision of International Financial Reporting Standards 1

governing financial statements regarding changes in accounting policies.

(d) Identify the appropriate accounting treatment if a company changes a 1
material accounting policy.

Exam guide

This is a very important chapter, which set the basis of accounting ideas and conventions. Expect
questions on all aspects, including the Framework. Accounting conventions have been called into question
and you may be asked to question them yourself in an exam. Pay particular attention to Section 4 of this
chapter.

Exam focus

point Always read the question carefully before answering. Make sure that you understand the requirement and

have picked out the main points of the question. Remember that the distracters (wrong options) will
include common errors made by students, so always check your answer before moving on.
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1 Background

In preparing financial statements, accountants follow certain fundamental assumptions.

Accounting practice has developed gradually over a matter of centuries. Many of its procedures are
operated automatically by people who have never questioned whether alternative methods exist which
have equal validity. However, the procedures in common use imply the acceptance of certain concepts
which are by no means self-evident; nor are they the only possible concepts which could be used to build
up an accounting framework.

Our next step is to look at some of the more important concepts which are taken for granted in preparing
accounts. In this chapter we shall single out the following assumptions and concepts for discussion.

Fair presentation
Going concern
Accruals or matching
Consistency concept
Prudence

Materiality

Substance over form
Relevance

Reliability

Faithful representation
Neutrality
Completeness
Comparability
Understandability —
Business entity concept.
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We begin by considering accounting policies and those fundamental assumptions which are the subject
of IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements (items (a) — (g) of the above list).

2 IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

IAS 1 identifies four fundamental assumptions that must be taken into account when preparing
statements:

. Fair presentation I
o Going concern

o Accruals

o Consistency

IAS 1 also considers three other concepts extremely important. Prudence, substance over form and
materiality should govern the selection and application of accounting policies.

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements was published in 1997 and revised in 2004 and again in 2007.
Here we will look at the general requirements of IAS 1 and what it says about accounting policies and
fundamental assumptions. The rest of the standard, on the format and content of financial statements will
be covered in Chapter 21.

2.1 Objectives and scope

The main objective of IAS 1 is:

‘To prescribe the basis for presentation of general purpose financial statements, to ensure
comparability both with the entity's financial statements of previous periods and with the financial
statements of other entities.'
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IAS 1 applies to all general purpose financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

2.2 Purpose of financial statements

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance
and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. They also
show the result of management's stewardship of the resources entrusted to it.

In order to fulfil this objective, financial statements must provide information about the following aspects
of an entity's results.

. Assets

o Liabilities

o Equity

o Income and expenses (including gains and losses)
. Other changes in equity

. Cash flows

Along with other information in the notes and related documents, this information will assist users in
predicting the entity future cash flows.

According to IAS 1, a complete set of financial statements includes the following components.

(@)  Statement of financial position
(b)  Income statement and/or statement of comprehensive income
(c)  Statement of changes in equity
(d)  Statement of cash flows

(e)  Accounting policies and explanatory notes

The preparation of these statements is the responsibility of the board of directors. IAS 1 also encourages

a financial review by management and the production of any other reports and statements which may
aid users.

2.3 Fair presentation and compliance with IASs/IFRSs

Most importantly, financial statements should present fairly the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity. Compliance with IASs/IFRS will almost always achieve this.

The following points made by IAS 1 expand on this principle.

(@)  Compliance with IASs/IFRSs should be disclosed
(b)  All relevant IASs/IFRSs must be followed if compliance with IASs/IFRSs is disclosed

(c)  Use of an inappropriate accounting treatment cannot be rectified either by disclosure of
accounting policies or notes/explanatory material

There may be (very rare) circumstances when management decides that compliance with a requirement of
an IAS/IFRS would be misleading. Departure from the IAS/IFRS is therefore required to achieve a fair
presentation. The following should be disclosed in such an event.

(@)  Management confirmation that the financial statements fairly present the entity's financial position,
performance and cash flows

(b)  Statement that all IASs/IFRSs have been complied with except departure from one IAS/IFRS to
achieve a fair presentation

(c)  Details of the nature of the departure, why the IAS/IFRS treatment would be misleading, and the
treatment adopted

(d)  Financial impact of the departure
IAS 1 states what is required for a fair presentation.

(@)  Selection and application of accounting policies
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(b)  Presentation of information in a manner which provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information

(c)  Additional disclosures where required

2.4 Accounting policies

We will look at accounting policies in more detail in Section 6 of this Chapter. However, accounting
policies should be chosen in order to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. Where
there is no specific requirement in an I1AS or IFRS, policies should be developed so that information
provided by the financial statements is:

(@)  Relevant to the decision-making needs of users.
(b)  Reliable in that they:
i) Represent faithfully the results and financial position of the entity.

i) Reflect the economic substance of events and transactions and not merely the legal form.
iii)  Are neutral, that is free from bias.
iv)  Are prudent.

(v)  Are complete in all material respects.
(c)  Comparable
(d)  Understandable

We will look at these four characteristics in more detail in Section 3 of this chapter. IAS 1 then considers
certain important assumptions which underpin the preparation and presentation of financial statements.

(
(
(
(

2.5 Going concern

The entity is normally viewed as a going concern, that is, as continuing in operation for the foreseeable
future. It is assumed that the entity has neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation or of curtailing
materially the scale of its operations.

This concept assumes that, when preparing a normal set of accounts, the business will continue to
operate in approximately the same manner for the foreseeable future (at least the next 12 months). In
particular, the entity will not go into liquidation or scale down its operations in a material way.

The main significance of a going concern is that the assets should not be valued at their 'break-up'
value; the amount they would sell for if they were sold off piecemeal and the business were broken up.

2.6 Example: Going concern

Emma acquires a T-shirt printing machine at a cost of $60,000. The asset has an estimated life of six
years, and it is normal to write off the cost of the asset to the income statement over this time. In this case
a depreciation cost of $10,000 per year is charged.

Using the going concern assumption, it is presumed that the business will continue its operations and so
the asset will live out its full six years in use. A depreciation charge of $10,000 is made each year, and the
value of the asset in the statement of financial position is its cost less the accumulated depreciation
charged to date. After one year, the net book value of the asset is $(60,000 — 10,000) = $50,000, after two
years it is $40,000, after three years $30,000 etc, until it is written down to a value of 0 after 6 years.

This asset has no other operational use outside the business and, in a forced sale, it would only sell for
scrap. After one year of operation, its scrap value is $8,000.

The net book value of the asset, applying the going concern assumption, is $50,000 after one year, but its
immediate sell-off value only $8,000. It can be argued that the asset is over-valued at $50,000, that it
should be written down to its break-up value ($8,000) and the balance of its cost should be treated as an
expense. However, provided that the going concern assumption is valid, it is appropriate accounting
practice to value the asset at its net book value.
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ﬁ Going concern

A retailer commences business on 1 January and buys inventory of 20 washing machines, each costing
$100. During the year he sells 17 machines at $150 each. How should the remaining machines be valued
at 31 December in the following circumstances?

(@)  Heis forced to close down his business at the end of the year and the remaining machines will
realise only $60 each in a forced sale.

(b)  Heintends to continue his business into the next year.

(@)  Ifthe business is to be closed down, the remaining three machines must be valued at the amount
they will realise in a forced sale, ie 3 x $60 = $180.

(b)  Ifthe business is regarded as a going concern, the inventory unsold at 31 December will be carried
forward into the following year, when the cost of the three machines will be matched against the
eventual sale proceeds in computing that year's profits. The three machines will therefore be
valued at cost, 3 x $100 = $300.

If the going concern assumption is not followed, that fact must be disclosed, together with the following
information.

(@)  The basis on which the financial statements have been prepared.
(b)  The reasons why the entity is not considered to be a going concern.

2.7 Accruals hasis of accounting

Key term In the accruals basis of accounting, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income and

expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria
for those elements in the Framework. (IAS 1)

Entities should prepare their financial statements on the basis that transactions are recorded in them, not
as the cash is paid or received, but as the revenues or expenses are earned or incurred in the accounting
period to which they relate.

According to the accrual assumption, in computing profit revenue earned must be matched against the
expenditure incurred in earning it. This is also known as the matching convention.

2.8 Example: Accrual

Emma prints 20 T-shirts in her first month of trading (May) at a cost of $5 each. She then sells all of them
for $10 each. Emma has therefore made a profit of $100, by matching the revenue ($200) earned against
the cost ($100) of acquiring them.

If, however, Emma only sells 18 T-shirts, it is incorrect to charge her income statement with the cost of 20
T-shirts, as she still has two T-shirts in inventory. If she sells them in June, she is likely to make a profit
on the sale. Therefore, only the purchase cost of 18 T-shirts ($90) should be matched with her sales
revenue ($180), leaving her with a profit of $90.
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Her statement of financial position will ook like this.

$
Assets
Inventory (at cost, ie 2 x $5) 10
Accounts receivable (18 x $10) 180
190
Capital and liabilities
Proprietor's capital (profit for the period) 90
Accounts payable (20 x $5) 100
190

However, if Emma had decided to give up selling T-shirts, then the going concern assumption no longer
applies and the value of the two T-shirts in the statement of financial position is break-up valuation not
cost. Similarly, if the two unsold T-shirts are unlikely to be sold at more than their cost of $5 each (say,
because of damage or a fall in demand) then they should be recorded on the statement of financial
position at their net realisable value (ie the likely eventual sales price less any expenses incurred to make
them saleable) rather than cost. This shows the application of the prudence concept, which we will look at
shortly.

In this example, the concepts of going concern and accrual are linked. Since the business is assumed to
be a going concern, it is possible to carry forward the cost of the unsold T-shirts as a charge against
profits of the next period.

2.9 Consistency of presentation

To maintain consistency, the presentation and classification of items in the financial statements should
stay the same from one period to the next, except as follows.

(@)  There is a significant change in the nature of the operations or a review of the financial statements
indicates a more appropriate presentation.

(b)  Achange in presentation is required by an IFRS.
2.10 Materiality and aggregation

All material items should be disclosed in the financial statements.

Amounts which are immaterial can be aggregated with amounts of a similar nature or function and need
not be presented separately.

Materiality. Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. (IAS 1)

An error which is too trivial to affect anyone's understanding of the accounts is referred to as immaterial.
In preparing accounts it is important to assess what is material and what is not, so that time and money
are not wasted in the pursuit of excessive detail.

Determining whether or not an item is material is a very subjective exercise. There is no absolute
measure of materiality. It is common to apply a convenient rule of thumb (for example material items are
those with a value greater than 5% of net profits). However some items disclosed in the accounts are
regarded as particularly sensitive and even a very small misstatement of such an item is taken as a
material error. An example, in the accounts of a limited liability company, is the amount of remuneration
paid to directors of the company.

The assessment of an item as material or immaterial may affect its treatment in the accounts. For
example, the income statement of a business shows the expenses incurred grouped under suitable
captions (heating and lighting, rent and local taxes, etc); but in the case of very small expenses it may be
appropriate to lump them together as 'sundry expenses', because a more detailed breakdown is
inappropriate for such immaterial amounts.
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In assessing whether or not an item is material, it is not only the value of the item which needs to be
considered. The context is also important.

(a) If a statement of financial position shows non-current assets of $2 million and inventories of
$30,000, an error of $20,000 in the depreciation calculations might not be regarded as material.
Whereas an error of $20,000 in the inventory valuation is material. In other words, the total of
which the error forms part must be considered.

(b)  Ifabusiness has a bank loan of $50,000 and a $55,000 balance on bank deposit account, it will be
a material misstatement if these two amounts are displayed on the statement of financial position
as 'cash at bank $5,000'. In other words, incorrect presentation may amount to material
misstatement even if there is no monetary error.

ﬁ Materiality

Would you treat the following items as assets in the accounts of a company?

(@  Aboxfile
(b) A computer
(c)  Asmall plastic display stand

(@)  No. You would write it off to the income statement as an expense.
(b)  Yes. You would capitalise the computer and charge depreciation on it.

(c)  Your answer depends on the size of the company and whether writing off the item has a material
effect on its profits. A larger organisation might well write this item off under the heading of
advertising expenses, while a small one might capitalise it and depreciate it over time. This is
because the item is material to the small company, but not to the large company.

2.11 Offsetting

IAS 1 does not allow assets and liabilities to be offset against each other unless such a treatment is
required or permitted by another IFRS.

Income and expenses can be offset only when one of the following applies.

(@  AnIFRS requires/permits it.
(b)  Gains, losses and related expenses arising from the same/similar transactions are not material.

2.12 Comparative information

IAS 1 requires comparative information to be disclosed for the previous period for all numerical
information, unless another IFRS permits/requires otherwise. Comparatives should also be given in
narrative information where helpful.

Comparatives should be restated when the presentation or classification of items in the financial
statements is amended.

2.13 Prudence

Key term Prudence. The inclusion of a degree of caution in the exercise of the judgements needed in making the

estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that assets or income are not overstated and
liabilities or expenses are not understated.
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Prudence must be exercised when preparing financial statements because of the uncertainty surrounding
many transactions. It is not permitted, however, to create secret or hidden reserves using prudence as a
justification.

There are three important issues to bear in mind.

(a)

(c)

Where alternative procedures or valuations are possible, the one selected should be the one
which gives the most cautious result. For example, you may have wondered why the three washing
machines in Question Going Concern were stated in the statement of financial position at their cost
($100 each) rather than their selling price ($150 each). This is simply an aspect of prudence: to
value the machines at $150 would be to anticipate making a profit before the profit had been
realised.

Where a loss is foreseen, it should be anticipated and taken into account immediately. Even when
the exact amount of the loss is not known, an estimate of the loss should be made, based on the
best information available. If a business purchases inventory for $1,200 but, because of a sudden
slump in the market, only $900 is likely to be realised when the inventory is sold; the prudence
concept dictates that the inventory is valued at $300. It is not enough to wait until the inventory is
sold, and then recognise the $300 loss; it must be recognised as soon as it is foreseen.

Profits should only be recognised when realised in the form of cash or another asset with a
reasonably certain cash value.

2.14 Examples: Prudence

Some examples might help to explain the application of prudence.

(a)

A company begins trading on 1 January 20X5 and sells goods worth $100,000 during the year to
31 December. At 31 December there are accounts receivable outstanding of $15,000. Of these, the
company is now doubtful whether $6,000 will ever be paid.

The company should make an allowance for receivables of $6,000. Sales for 20X5 are shown in the
income statement at their full value of $100,000, but the allowance for receivables is a charge of
$6,000. Since there is some uncertainty that the sales will be realised in the form of cash, prudence
dictates that the $6,000 should not be included in the profit for the year.

Samson Feeble trades as a carpenter. He undertakes to make a range of kitchen furniture for a
customer at an agreed price of $1,000. At the end of Samson's accounting year the job is
unfinished (being two thirds complete) and the following data has been assembled.

$
Costs incurred in making the furniture to date 800
Further estimated costs to completion of the job 400
Total cost 1,200

The incomplete job represents work in progress at the end of the year which is an asset, like
inventory. Its cost to date is $800, but by the time the job is completed Samson will make a loss of
$200.

The full $200 loss should be charged against profits of the current year. The value of work in
progress at the year end is its net realisable value, which is lower than its cost. The net realisable
value can be calculated in either of two ways.

(i) (ii)
$ $
Eventual sales value 1,000  Work in progress at cost 800
Less further costs to completion
In order to make the sale 400  Less loss foreseen 200
Net realisable value - 600 600
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2.15 Substance over form

Key term Substance over form. The principle that transactions and other events are accounted for and presented in

accordance with their substance and economic reality and not merely their legal form.

Substance over form usually applies to transactions which are fairly complicated. It is very important
because it acts as a 'catch-all' to stop entities distorting their results by following the letter of the law,
instead of showing what the entity has really been doing.

2.16 Presentation of accounting policies

There should be a specific section for accounting policies in the notes to the financial statements and the
following should be disclosed there.

(@)  Measurement bases used in preparing the financial statements (see Section 5)

(b)  Each specific accounting policy necessary for a proper understanding of the financial statements
(see Section 6)

To be clear and understandable it is essential that financial statements disclose the accounting policies
used in their preparation. This is because policies may vary, not only from entity to entity, but also from
country to country. As an aid to users, all the major accounting policies used should be disclosed in the
same note.

There is a wide range of policies available in many accounting areas. Examples where such differing
policies exist are as follows, although the list is not exhaustive and it has been selected from the standard
to reflect the limited areas covered in your syllabus.

General — Overall valuation policy (eg historical cost, replacement value)
— Events subsequent to the reporting period

Assets — Receivables

— Inventories and related cost of goods sold
— Depreciable assets and depreciation

— Research and development

Liabilities and provisions — Commitments and contingencies

Profits and losses — Methods of revenue recognition
— Maintenance, repairs and improvements
— Gains and losses on disposals of property

3 The IASB's Framework

) The IASB's Framework provides the basis of its conceptual framework. IASs and IFRSs are based on this
framework. The key elements are:

o Financial statements should provide useful information to users.
o Financial position is shown in the statement of financial position.
. Financial performance is shown in the income statement.

o Changes in financial position are shown in the statement of cash flows.
o The main underlying assumptions are accruals and going concern.
o Financial statements should be: — Understandable

— Relevant

— Reliable

— Comparable
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The Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements ('Framework’) is, in effect, the
conceptual framework upon which all IASs and IFRSs are based and hence which determines how
financial statements are prepared and the information they contain.

The Framework consists of several sections or chapters, following on after a preface and introduction.
These chapters are as follows.

. The objective of financial statements.

. Underlying assumptions

. Qualitative characteristics of financial statements

. The elements of financial statements

. Recognition of the elements of financial statements
. Measurement of the elements of financial statements

. Concepts of capital and capital maintenance

We will look briefly at the preface and introduction to the Framework as these will place the document in
context with the rest of what you will study for this paper. We will then look only at the first three of the
chapters listed above, because a detailed knowledge of the remainder of the Framework is not examinable.
A brief summary of the remaining chapters is given at the end of this section.

3.1 Preface

The preface to the Framework points out the fundamental reason why financial statements are produced

worldwide, ie to satisfy the requirements of external users, but that practice varies due to the individual

pressures in each country. These pressures may be social, political, economic or legal, but they result in

variations in practice from country to country, including the form of statements, the definition of their

component parts (assets, liabilities etc), the criteria for recognition of items and both the scope and

disclosure of financial statements. o

It is these differences which the IASB wishes to narrow by harmonising all aspects of financial
statements, including the regulations governing their accounting standards and their preparation and
presentation.

The preface emphasises the way financial statements are used to make economic decisions and thus
financial statements should be prepared to this end. The types of economic decisions for which financial
statements are likely to be used include the following.

. Decisions to buy, hold or sell equity investments

) Assessment of management stewardship and accountability

o Assessment of the enterprise's ability to pay employees

. Assessment of the security of amounts lent to the enterprise o
. Determination of taxation policies

. Determination of distributable profits and dividends

) Inclusion in national income statistics

. Regulations of the activities of enterprises

Any additional requirements imposed by national governments for their own purposes should not affect
financial statements produced for the benefit of other users.

The Framework recognises that financial statements can be prepared using a variety of models. Although
the most common is based on historical cost and a nominal unit of currency (ie pound sterling, US dollar
etc), the Framework can be applied to financial statements prepared under a range of models.

3.2 Introduction

The introduction to the Framework lays out the purpose, status and scope of the document. It then looks
at different users of financial statements and their information needs.
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3.2.1 Purpose and status
The introduction gives a list of the purposes of the Framework.

(@)  Assist the Board of the IASB in the development of future IFRSs and in its review of existing IASs.

(b)  Assist the Board of the IASB in promoting harmonisation of regulations, accounting standards and
procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements by providing a basis for reducing the
number of alternative accounting treatments permitted by IASs.

(c)  Assist national standard-setting bodies in developing national standards.

(d)  Assist preparers of financial statements in applying IFRSs and in dealing with topics that have yet
to form the subject of an IFRS.

(e)  Assist auditors in forming an opinion as to whether financial statements conform with |ASs.

(f) Assist users of financial statements in interpreting the information contained in financial
statements prepared in conformity with IFRSs.

(9)  Provide those who are interested in the work of IASB with information about its approach to the
formulation of IFRSs.

Ex_am focus The purpose of the IASB Framework is given as background information, it is unlikely to be tested in the
point exam.
The Frameworkis not an IFRS and so does not overrule any individual IFRS. In the (rare) cases of conflict
between an IAS or IFRS and the Framework, the 1AS or IFRS will prevail. These cases will diminish over
time as the Framework will be used as a guide in the production of future IFRSs. The Framework itself will
be revised occasionally depending on the experience of the IASB in using it.
3.2.2 Scope
The Framework deals with:
(@)  The objective of financial statements
(b)  The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information in financial statements
(c)  The definition, recognition and measurement of the elements from which financial statements are
constructed
(d)  Concepts of capital and capital maintenance
We are only concerned with (a) and (b) here.
The Framework is concerned with 'general purpose’ financial statements (ie a normal set of annual
statements), but it can be applied to other types of accounts. A complete set of financial statements
includes:
(@) A statement of financial position
(b)  Anincome statement
(c)  Astatement of changes in financial position (eg a statement of cash flows)
(d)  Notes, other statements and explanatory material
Supplementary information may be included, but some items are not included, namely commentaries and
reports by the directors, the chairman, management etc.
All types of financial reporting entities are included (commercial, industrial, business; public or
private sector).
Key term

A reporting entity is an entity for which there are users who rely on the financial statements as their major
source of financial information about the entity. (Framework)
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3.2.3 Users and their information needs

We have already looked at the users of accounting information in Chapter 1. They consist of investors,
employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade payables, customers, government and their agencies and
the public.

Financial statements cannot meet all these users' needs, but financial statements which meet the needs of
investors (providers of risk capital) will meet most of the needs of other users.

The Framework emphasises that the preparation and presentation of financial statements is primarily the
responsibility of an entity's management. Management also has an interest in the information appearing
in financial statements.

3.3 The objective of financial statements

The Framework states that:

"The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the financial position
performance and changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in
making economic decisions.'

Such financial statements will meet the needs of most users. The information is, however, restricted.

(@)  Itis based on past events not expected future events.
(b) It does not necessarily contain non-financial information.

The statements also show the results of the management's stewardship.

3.3.1 Financial position, performance and changes in financial position

It is important for users to assess the ability of an entity to produce cash and cash equivalents to pay
employees, lenders etc.

Financial position information is affected by the following and information about each one can aid the
user.

(@)  Economic resources controlled: to predict the ability to generate cash

(b)  Financial structure: to predict borrowing needs, the distribution of future profits/cash and likely
success in raising new finance

(c)  Liquidity and solvency: to predict whether financial commitments will be met as they fall due
(liquidity relates to short-term commitments, solvency is longer-term)

In all these areas, the capacity to adapt to changes in the environment in which the entity operates is very
important.

Financial performance (income statement) information, particularly profitability, is used to assess
potential changes in the economic resources the entity is likely to control in future. Information about
performance variability is therefore important.

Changes in financial position (ie statement of cash flows) information is used to assess the entity's
investing, financing and operating activities. They show the entity's ability to produce cash and the needs
which utilise those cash flows.

All parts of the financial statements are interrelated, reflecting different aspects of the same transactions
or events. Each statement provides different information; none can provide all the information required by
users.

3.4 Underlying assumptions

We have met two of the assumptions discussed here in Section 2 and the other in Chapter 1. Here is a
quick revision.
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(@)  Accruals basis
Financial statements prepared under the accruals basis show users past transactions involving
cash and also obligations to pay cash in the future and resources which represent cash to be
received in the future.

(b)  Going concern
It is assumed that the entity has no intention to liquidate or curtail major operations. If it did, then
the financial statements would be prepared on a different (disclosed) basis.

(c)  Business entity concept
Financial statements are prepared on the basis that the business is a separate entity from the
owner(s) regardless of the legal position.

3.5 Qualitative characteristics of financial statements

The Framework states that qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information provided
in financial statements useful to users. The four principal qualitative characteristics are understandability,
relevance, reliability and comparability. These and the other qualitative characteristics are discussed in
detail in Sections 3.6 to 3.15 that follow.

Exam focus While the previous sections have been mainly background information, make sure that you learn Sections

point 3.6 0 3.15 as these are specifically listed in the syllabus. At the 2009 ACCA Teachers' Conference, the
examiner emphasised that students need to be aware of the theoretical aspects of the syllabus eg the
Framework.

3.6 Understandability

Users must be able to understand financial statements. They are assumed to have some business,
economic and accounting knowledge and to be able to apply themselves to study the information
property. Complex matters should not be left out of financial statements simply due to its difficulty if it is
relevant information.

3.7 Relevance

Only relevant information can be useful. Information is relevant when it helps users evaluate past,
present or future events, or it confirms or corrects previous evaluations. The predictive and confirmatory
roles of information are interrelated.

Information on financial position and performance is often used to predict future position and
performance and other things of interest to the user, eg likely dividend, wage rises. The manner of
showing information will enhance the ability to make predictions, eg by highlighting unusual items.

The relevance of information is affected by its nature and materiality. Information may be judged relevant
simply because of its nature (eg remuneration of management). In other cases, both the nature and
materiality of the information are important. Materiality is not a primary qualitative characteristic itself (like
reliability or relevance), because it is merely a threshold or cut-off point.

3.8 Reliability

Information must also be reliable to be useful, ie free from material error and bias. The user must be
able to depend on it being a faithful representation.

Pointto note | Eyen if information is relevant, if it is very unreliable it may be misleading to recognise it, eg a disputed

claim for damages in a legal action.
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3.9 Faithful representation

Information must represent faithfully the transactions it purports to represent in order to be reliable.
There is a risk that this may not be the case, not due to bias, but due to inherent difficulties in identifying
the transactions or finding an appropriate method of measurement or presentation.

Where measurement of the financial effects of an item is so uncertain, enterprises should not recognise
such an item, eg internally generated goodwill.

3.10 Substance over form

Faithful representation of a transaction is only possible if it is accounted for according to its substance
and economic reality, not with its legal form.

3.11 Neutrality

Information must be free from bias to be reliable. Neutrality is lost if the financial statements are prepared
so as to influence the user to make a judgement or decision in order to achieve a predetermined outcome.

3.12 Prudence

Uncertainties exist in the preparation of financial information, eg the collectability of doubtful receivables.
These uncertainties are recognised through disclosure and through the application of prudence.

Prudence does not, however, allow the creation of hidden reserves or excessive provisions,
understatement of assets or income or overstatement of liabilities or expenses.

3.13 Completeness

Financial information must be complete, within the restrictions of materiality and cost, to be reliable.
Omission may cause information to be misleading.

3.14 Comparabhility

Users must be able to compare an entity's financial statements:

(@)  through time to identify trends; and

(b)  with other entity's statements, to evaluate their relative financial position, performance and
changes in financial position.

The consistency of treatment is therefore important across like items over time, within the entity
and across all entities.

The disclosure of accounting policies is particularly important here. Users must distinguish between
different accounting policies to be able to make a valid comparison of similar items in the accounts of
different entities.

Comparability is not the same as uniformity. Entities should change accounting policies if they become
inappropriate.

Corresponding information for preceding periods should be shown to enable comparison over time.

3.15 Constraints on relevant and reliable information

3.15.1 Timeliness

Information may become irrelevant if there is a delay in reporting it. There is a balance between
timeliness and the provision of reliable information. Information may be reported on a timely basis
when not all aspects of the transaction are known, thus compromising reliability.
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If every detail of a transaction is known, it may be too late to publish the information because it has
become irrelevant. The overriding consideration is how best to satisfy the economic decision-making
needs of the users.

3.15.2 Balance hetween benefits and cost

This is a pervasive constraint, not a qualitative characteristic. When information is provided, its benefits must
exceed the costs of obtaining and presenting it. This is a subjective area and there are other difficulties: others
than the intended users may gain a benefit; also the cost may be paid by someone other than the users. Itis
therefore difficult to apply a cost-benefit analysis, but preparers and users should be aware of the constraint.

3.15.3 Balance hetween qualitative characteristics

A trade off between qualitative characteristics of often necessary, the aim being to achieve an

appropriate balance to meet the objective of financial statements. It is a matter for professional judgement
as to the relative importance of these characteristics in each case. We will look at this in Section 4 of this

chapter.

We have now covered those parts of the IASB's Framework which you need to understand in detail.
A summary of the rest of the document is given below.

3.16 The elements of financial statements

This section defines the important items which make up the financial statements and looks at their
sub-classification.

(@)  Financial position
(i)  Assets

An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. Framework

(i) Liabilities

expected to result in a outflow from the entity of resource embodying economic benefits.

A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is

Framework

(i) Equity

Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

Framework

(b)  Performance

(i) Income

Income is increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or
enhancement of assets or decrease of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than those
relating to contributions from equity participants. Framework

(i) Expenses

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows
or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than
those relating to distributions to equity participants. Framework
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(iii)  Capital maintenance adjustments

We have looked at most of these items in detail in Chapter 1. We will look at capital maintenance later in

this section.

Exam focus

point You do need to know the Framework definitions of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expenses.
3.17 Recognition of the elements of financial statements
Having defined the elements, the Framework then lays out the criteria for when items should be
recognised (ie included in the financial statements). The section looks at the recognition of assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure in turn, based on the concept of outflows and inflows of future
economic benefit.
3.18 Measurement of the element of financial statements
This brief section simply mentions some of the different measurement bases available, including
historical cost and current cost.
3.19 Concepts of capital and capital maintenance
The different concepts are examined briefly, the main two concepts are:
(a) financial capital maintenance; and
(b)  physical (or operating) capital maintenance.
Capital maintenance is an idea that capital must be preserved before any payments can be made to
shareholders. In times of high inflation, a company may appear to have made a profit. However, if the 7
inflation factor is applied to the capital, there may well have been a loss.
For example, a company may have capital of $100,000 and make profits of $10,000. However, inflation is
running at 10%. Therefore capital maintenance requires that the $10,000 is needed to maintain capital
(10% x $100,000) and so no dividend is paid to the shareholders.

ﬁ Revision of concepts
’,,r
See if you can write a short sentence explaining each of the following concepts.
(@)  Relevance
(b)  Reliability
(c)  Faithful representation
(d)  Neutrality
(e)  Completeness
(f) Comparability
(9)  Understandability
(@)  Relevance. The information provided satisfies the needs of users.
(b)  Reliability. The information is free from material error or bias.
(c)  Faithful representation. The information gives full details of its effects on the financial statements
and is only recognised if its financial effects are certain.
(d)  Neutrality. The information is free from bias.
(e)  Completeness. The information must present a rounded picture of its economic activities.
(f) Comparability. The information should be produced on a consistent basis so that valid
comparisons can be made with previous periods and with other entities.
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(9)  Understandability. Information may be difficult to understand if it is incomplete, but too much
detail can also confuse the issue.

ﬁ Consistency

Which of the following statements best describes the consistency concept?

A Only material items are disclosed
B The way an item is presented always remains the same

C Presentation and classification of items should remain the same unless a change is required by an
IFRS

The correct answer is C.

4 Criticisms of accounting conventions

) Accounting conventions are not 'set in stone'. They can be, and have been, criticised.

It is easy to assume that these accounting conventions are the best ones we could use. However, this is
not necessarily the case. This is potentially a vast topic, so we will look at only to two or three examples.

Exam focus

point The syllabus and study guide show that you must understand the balance between qualitative

characteristics. Do not neglect this section.

4.1 Criticisms of the prudence concept

'Prudence' and 'accountant’ would appear to go together. Surely this bedrock of accounting is
unassailable?

ﬁ Prudence

Before we go any further, can you remember exactly what prudence is?

The prudence concept lays down that revenue and profits are not anticipated but should only be recorded
when earning is reasonably certain. Expenses and liabilities should, however, be recorded when
anticipated, as best estimates if no actual figures are available.

Loss in value of assets, whether realised or not, should be recorded when it arises, but a gain in value of
an asset should not be recorded except via an unrealised reserve and only then if properly warranted.

An example of the application of the prudence concept is the requirement to value inventory at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.
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This is all very well, but it can lead to problems, of which the following can be identified as the most
significant.

(@)  Prudence most obviously conflicts with the accrual assumption because it requires that the
matching of costs and revenues should not take place if there is any doubt about the future
recoverability of deferred costs. This conflict has been summarised as 'should we report the worst
possible situation (prudence) or the most likely position?'

(b)  Prudence also conflicts with the going concern assumption because it may not be prudent to
assume that a business is a going concern (although it is realistic).

(c)  Prudence makes it difficult to treat items consistently because circumstances in one period may
require a different treatment from previous periods in order to be prudent.

(d)  Prudence also undermines several other assumptions. For instance, objectivity is regarded as
important by most users of accounts but prudence (or conservatism as it is sometimes called)
implies a subjectivity in coming to accounting judgements. It is also difficult to reconcile prudence
with the use of anything other than the historical cost convention for valuing assets (see
Section 5).

4.2 Criticisms of the accruals assumption

Try this question before you go any further.

Accruals

Can you remember what the accruals assumption is?

Under the accruals assumption, revenue and expenditure are matched and recorded in the accounts when
earned or incurred, rather than being dependent on the associated cash movement.

This applies most obviously for credit sales, but also results in the identification of inventory at the end of
each accounting period rather than writing all purchases off to the trading account. Only purchases which
result in a sale recorded in the period or are used for promotional or similar purposes should be matched
with sales for the period. Therefore, if purchased goods still on hand at the period end are of saleable
quality and the company will still be trading in the next period (ie the prudence and going concern
concepts are satisfied) then any unsold goods can be treated as current assets and their value can be
deducted from purchases and opening inventory.

What could possibly be wrong with that? The main criticism relates to the conflict with historical cost
accounting.

It can be argued that the accrual assumption is not applied in historical cost accounting. The assumption
states that revenue earned must be matched against expenditure incurred in earning it. The cost of goods
sold in the income statement is normally computed on the basis of their historical cost. However, a
continuing business will want to replace inventories sold and will have to do so at ever higher prices. This
means that some of the 'profit' shown by the accounts is not profit at all, but must be spent in restoring
the assets of the business to their previous level.

It may be argued that the accrual assumption could be better applied under a system of replacement cost.
Thus the historical cost profit would be adjusted by the 'cost of sales adjustment' which aims to charge
the income statement with the current cost of each item of inventory sold at the date of sale.

Other criticisms of the accrual assumption include the following.

(@)  The nature of the matching process is often arbitrary, for example in selecting a depreciation
method.

(b)  The accrual assumption conflicts with the prudence concept as indicated above.

Part B The qualitative characteristics of financial information and the fundamental bases of accounting | 3 Accounting conventions m



(c)  The accrual assumption is about getting the income statement figure right. This is an admirable
aim in itself, but it may mean that the statement of financial position contains rather arbitrary
figures. For example, when an asset is depreciated, the statement of financial position figure is
simply the unexpired cost to be allocated to future accounting periods. In other words, it is what is
left over after matching has taken place, not in itself a meaningful figure.

5 Bases of valuation

) Items in the financial statements can be valued under a number of bases. For your syllabus, you need to
know the following bases.

. Historical cost

o Replacement cost
. Net realisable value
. Economic value

5.1 Historical cost

A basic principle of accounting (some writers include it in the list of fundamental accounting assumptions)
is that items are normally stated in accounts at historical cost, ie at the amount which the business paid to
acquire them. An important advantage of this procedure is that the objectivity of accounts is maximised:
there is usually documentary evidence to prove the amount paid to purchase an asset or pay an expense.

Key term Historical cost means that transactions are recorded at the cost when they occurred.
In general, accountants prefer to deal with costs, rather than with 'values'. This is because valuations tend
to be subjective and to vary according to what the valuation is for.
5.2 Replacement cost
Key term Replacement cost means the amount needed to replace an items with an identical item.
Example: Replacement cost
XY Co bought a machine five years ago for $15,000. It is now worn out and needs replacing. An identical
machine can be purchased for $20,000.
Historical cost is $15,000
Replacement cost is $20,000
5.3 Net realisable value
Key term

Net realisable value is the expected price less any costs still to be incurred in getting the item ready for
sale and then selling it.

Example: Net realisable value

XY Co's machine from the example above can be restored to working order at a cost of $5,000. It can then
be sold for $10,000. What is its net realisable value?

Net realisable value = $10,000 — $5,000
=$5,000
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5.4 Economic value

Economic value is the value derived from an asset's ability to generate income.

A machine's economic value is the amount of profits it is expected to generate for the remains of its useful
life.

Example: Economic value

Suppose XY Co buy the new machine for $20,000. It is estimated that the new machine will generate
profits of $4,000 per year for its useful life of 8 years. What is its economic value?

Economic value = $4,000 x 8
= $32,000

5.5 Advantages and disadvantages of historical cost accounting

The advantage of historical cost accounting is that the cost is known and can be proved (eg by the
invoice). There is no subjectivity or bias in the valuation.

There are a number of disadvantages and these usually arise in times of rising prices (inflation). When
inflation is low, then historical cost accounting is usually satisfactory. However, when inflation is high the
following problems can occur.

5.5.1 Non-current asset values are unrealistic

The most striking example is property. Although some entities have periodically updated the statement of
financial position values, in general there has been a lack of consistency in the approach adopted and a T
lack of clarity in the way in which the effects of these changes in value have been expressed.

If non-current assets are retained in the books at their historical cost, unrealised holding gains are not
recognised. This means that the total holding gain, if any, will be brought into account during the year in
which the asset is realised, rather than spread over the period during which it was owned.

There are, in essence, two contradictory points to be considered.

(@)  Although it has long been accepted that a statement of financial position prepared under the
historical cost concept is an historical record and not a statement of current worth, many people
now argue that the statement of financial position should at least give an indication of the current
value of the company's tangible net assets.

(b)  The prudence concept requires that profits should only be recognised when realised in the form
either of cash or of other assets, the ultimate cash realisation of which can be assessed with
reasonable certainty. It may be argued that recognising unrealised holding gains on non-current
assets is contrary to this concept.

On balance, the weight of opinion is now in favour of restating asset values. It is felt that the criticism
based on prudence can be met by ensuring that valuations are made as objectively as possible (eg in the
case of property, by having independent expert valuations) and by not taking unrealised gains through the
income statement, but instead through reserves.

5.5.2 Depreciation is inadequate to finance the replacement of
non-current assets

Depreciation is not provided for in order to enforce retention of profits and thus ensure that funds are
available for asset replacement. It is intended as a measure of the contribution of non-current assets to the
company's activities in the period. However, an incidental effect of providing for depreciation is that not all
liquid funds can be paid out to investors and so funds for asset replacement are on hand. What is
important is not the replacement of one asset by an identical new one (something that rarely happens) but
the replacement of the operating capability represented by the old asset.
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5.5.3 Holding gains on inventories are included in profit

Another criticism of historical cost depreciation is that it does not fully reflect the value of the asset
consumed during the accounting year.

During a period of high inflation the monetary value of inventory held may increase significantly while they
are being processed. The conventions of historical cost accounting lead to the unrealised part of this
holding gain (known as inventory appreciation) being included in profit for the year.

Exam focus , . , e .
point The following example is given to help your understanding of this difficult concept. Exam questions are

only 1 or 2 marks and so would not be so detailed.

Example: Holding gain

This problem can be illustrated using a simple example. At the beginning of the year a company has 100
units of inventory and no other assets. Its trading account for the year is shown below.

TRADING ACCOUNT

Units  § Units $

Opening inventory 100 200 Sales (made 31 December) 100 500
Purchases (made 31 December) 100 400

200 600
Closing inventory (FIFO basis) 100 400

100 200
Gross profit - 300 - -

100 500 100 500

Apparently the company has made a gross profit of $300. But, at the beginning of the year the company
owned 100 units of inventory and at the end of the year it owned 100 units of inventory and $100 (sales
$500 less purchases $400). From this it would seem that a profit of $100 is more reasonable. The
remaining $200 is inventory appreciation arising as the purchase price increased from $2 to $4.

The criticism can be overcome by using a capital maintenance concept based on physical units rather
than money values.

5.5.4 Profits (or losses) on holdings of net monetary items are not shown

In periods of inflation the purchasing power, and thus the value, of money falls. It follows that an
investment in money will have a lower real value at the end of a period of time than it did at the beginning.
A loss has been incurred. Similarly, the real value of a monetary liability will reduce over a period of time
and a gain will be made.

5.5.5 The true effect of inflation on capital maintenance is not shown

To a large extent this follows from the points already mentioned. It is a widely held principle that
distributable profits should only be recognised after full allowance has been made for any erosion in the
capital value of a business. In historical cost accounts, although capital is maintained in nominal money
terms, it may not be in real terms. In other words, profits may be distributed to the detriment of the
long-term viability of the business. This criticism may be made by those who advocate capital
maintenance in physical terms.

5.5.6 Comparisons over time are unrealistic

This will tend to an exaggeration of growth. For example, if a company's profit in 1966 was $100,000 and
in 1999 $500,000, a shareholder's initial reaction might be that the company had done rather well. If,
however, it was then revealed that with $100,000 in 1966 he could buy exactly the same goods as with
$500,000 in 1999, the apparent growth would seem less impressive.
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6 IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors

IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors is an important standard. Here, you
need to be able to understand the provisions and identify the appropriate accounting treatment in respect
of changes in accounting policies.

IAS 8 lays down the criteria for selecting and changing accounting policies and specifies the accounting
treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates, and errors.

6.1 Definitions
The following definitions are given in the standard.

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an
entity in preparing and presenting financial statements.

A change in accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or a liability, or the
amount of the periodic consumption of an asset.

Material: Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively,
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity's financial statements for one or
more prior periods.

Impracticable: Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity cannot apply it after making every —
reasonable effort to do so.

6.2 Changes in accounting policies

The same accounting policies are usually adopted from period to period, to allow users to analyse trends
over time in profit, cash flows and financial position. Changes in accounting policy will therefore be rare
and should be made only if required.

(@) By an standard or an interpretation (of a standard)

(b)  Ifthe change will result in a more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the
financial statements of the entity —

A change in accounting policy is a change in measurement, presentation or recognition of an item eg a

business has written off all development expenditure in the past, but now decides to capitalise qualifying

development expenditure in the statement of financial position.

The standard highlights two types of event which do not constitute changes in accounting policy.

(a)  Adopting an accounting policy for a new type of transaction or event not dealt with previously by
the entity.

(b)  Adopting a new accounting policy for a transaction or event which has not occurred in the past or
which was not material.

In the case of property, plant and equipment, if a policy of revaluation is adopted for the first time then this
is treated, not as a change of accounting policy under IAS 8, but as a revaluation under IAS 16 Property,
plant and equipment (see Chapter 9). The following paragraphs do not therefore apply to revaluations.

A change in accounting policy should be applied retrospectively. Where an entity cannot determine the
effect of applying the new policy to all prior periods, the new policy should be applied prospectively from
the start of the earliest period practicable.
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(@)  Retrospective application
The new accounting policy is applied to transactions and events as if it had always been in use. In
other words, at the earliest date such transactions or events occurred, the policy is applied from
that date.

(b)  Prospective application
The new policy will be applied only to transactions or events occurring after the date of the change
in policy. Existing balances are not recalculated so no change is made to the opening balance on
retained reserves or to net profit or loss for the current period relating to prior periods. Only
changes caused by the new accounting policy in the existing period are necessary.

Where retrospective application is impracticable, the standard allows prospective application.

6.2.1 Adoption of an IFRS

Where a new IFRS is adopted, IAS 8 requires any transitional provisions in the new IFRS itself to be
followed. If none are given in the IFRS which is being adopted, then retrospective application is required.

6.2.2 Other changes in accounting policy:

IAS 8 requires retrospective application, unless the amount of any resulting adjustment that relates to
prior periods is not reasonably determinable. Any resulting adjustment should be reported as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Comparative information should be restated
unless it is impracticable to do so.

This means that all comparative information must be restated as if the new policy had always been in
force, with amounts relating to earlier periods reflected in an adjustment to opening reserves of the
earliest period presented.

Prospective application is allowed in certain circumstances, when the amount of the adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings required by the benchmark treatment cannot be reasonably
determined.

Certain disclosures are required when a change in accounting policy has a material effect on the current
period or any prior period presented, or when it may have a material effecting subsequent periods.

(@)  Reasons for the change
(b)  Amount of the adjustment for the current period and for each period presented

(c)  Amount of the adjustment relating to periods prior to those included in the comparative
information

(d)  The fact that comparative information has been restated or that it is impracticable to do so

Disclosures are required when a change in accounting policy has a material effect on the current period or
any prior period presented, or when it may have a material effect in subsequent periods.

(@)  Reasons for the change
(b)  Amount of the adjustment recognised in net profit/loss in the current period

(c)  The amount of the adjustment included in each period for which prior information is presented and
the amount of the adjustment relating to periods prior to those included in the financial statements

% Change of accounting policy

Wick Co was established on 1 January 20X0. In the first three years' accounts development expenditure
was carried forward as an asset in the statement of financial position. During 20X3 the managers decided
that for the current and future years, all development expenditure should be written off as it is incurred.
This decision has not resulted from any change in the expected outcome of development projects on hand,
but rather from a desire to favour the prudence concept. The following information is available.
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(@)  Movements on the development account.

Development expenditure

Year incurred and capitalised during year
$'000

20X0 525

20X1 780

20X2 995

(b)  The 20X2 accounts showed the following.

Retained earnings b/f
Retained earnings for the year
Retained earnings c/f

Transfer from capitalised
development expenditure
account to income statement

$'000
215
360
$'000
2,955
1,825
4,780

(c)  The retained profit for 20X3 after charging the actual development expenditure for the year was

$2,030,000.
Required

Show how the change in accounting policy should be reflected in the reserves in the company's 20X3

accounts per IAS 8.
Ignore taxation.

If the new accounting policy had been adopted since the company was incorporated, the additional income

statement charges for development expenditure would have been:

20X0
20X1 (780 - 215)

20X2 (995 - 360)

This means that the reserves brought forward at 1 January 20X3 would have been $1,725,000 less than
the reported figure of $4,780,000; while the reserves brought forward at 1 January 20X2 would have been

$1,090,000 less than the reported figure of $2,955,000.

The statement of reserves in Wick Co's 20X3 accounts should, therefore, appear as follows.

$'000 T
525
565

1,090
635

1725

Comparative B
(previous year)
figures

20X3 20X2

$'000 $'000
Retained earnings at the beginning of year
Previously reported 4,780 2,955
Retrospective change in accounting policy (note 1) 1,725 1,090
Restated 3,055 1,865
Retained earnings for the year 2,030 1,190 (note 2)
Retained earnings at the end of the year 5,085 3,055
Notes
1 The accounts should include a note explaining the reasons for and consequences of the changes in

accounting policy. (See above workings for 20X3 and 20X2.)

2 The retained profit shown for 20X2 is after charging the additional development expenditure of

$635,000.
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Attention! You will deal with limited company financial statements in Chapter 21. We suggest that you flag this
example and return to it after you have studied Chapter 21.

j IAS 8

AB Co decides to change its accounting policy following the issue of a new IFRS. The IFRS includes
provisions for accounting for transitional changes.

How should it account for the change in policy?

A According to IAS 8
B According to the new IFRS

The correct answer is B. The new IFRs includes accounting requirements on the transition. IAS 8 is only
followed if the new IFRS does not include transitional arrangements.
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Chapter Roundup

. In preparing financial statements, accountants follow certain fundamental assumptions.
. IAS 1 identifies four fundamental assumptions that must be taken into account when preparing
statements:

= Fair presentation
= Going concern
- Accruals

- Consistency

IAS 1 also considers three other concepts extremely important. Prudence, substance over form and
materiality should govern the selection and application of accounting policies.

o The IASB's Framework provides the basis of its conceptual framework. IASs and IFRSs are based on this
framework. The key elements are:

= Financial statements should provide useful information to users.

= Financial position is shown in the statement of financial position.

= Financial performance is shown in the income statement.

— Changes in financial position are shown in the statement of cash flows.

- The main underlying assumptions are accruals and going concern.

- Financial statements should be: Understandable

— Relevant
— Reliable
— Comparable
. Accounting conventions are not 'set in stone'. They can be, and have been, criticised.
o Items in the financial statements can be valued under a number of bases. For your syllabus, you need to
know the following bases.
— Historical cost
= Replacement cost
- Net realisable value
- Economic value
o IAS 8 Accountancy policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors is an important standard. Here,

you need to be able to understand the provisions and identify the appropriate accounting treatment in
respect of changes in accounting policies.
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1 Which IAS deals with accounting assumptions?
2 Which of the following assumptions are included in IAS 1?
A Money measurement
B Objectivity
C Going concern
D Business entity

3 Define 'going concern'.
What is meant by the prudence concept?

5 Only items which have a monetary value can be included in accounts. Which of the following is a basis of
valuation?

A Historical cost

B Money measurement
C Realisation

D Business entity

6 Suggest four possible values which might be attributed to an asset in the statement of financial position of
a business.
7 Making an allowance for receivables is an example of which concept?

A Accruals
B Going concern
C Materiality
D Prudence
8 Why is a conceptual framework necessary?

A To provide a theoretical basics for financial statements
B To provide concepts on which to build a framework

9 Which of the following sections are not included in the IASB's Framework?

A Users of financial statements

B Underlying assumptions

C Qualitative characteristics

D Concept of capital maintenance

10 What does 'reliability’ mean in the context of financial statements?
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IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.

2 C Only going concern is included in IAS 1, the others are assumptions and concepts generally used
in accountancy, but not mentioned in IAS 1.

3 The assumption that a business will continue in operation for the foreseeable future, without going into
liquidation or materially scaling down its operations.

4 Prudence means to be cautious when exercising judgement. In particular profits should not be recognised
until realised, but a loss should be recognised as soon as it is foreseen.

5 A This is the only valuation basis.
6 o Historical cost

o Replacement value
. Net realisable value
. Economic value
7 D Prudence
8 A It forms the theoretical basis for determining what is included in financial statements, how they are

measured and how they are communicated.
9 A
10 Free from material error and bias.

Now try the questions below from the Exam Question Bank

Q3 Examination 2 2 mins
Q4 Examination 2 2 mins
Q5 Examination 2 2 mins
Q06 Examination 2 2 mins
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1 The role of source documents C1(a)—(b), (f)

2 The need for books of prime entry C2(a)

3 Sales and purchase day books D1(a)—(b)

4 Cash book D2(a)

5 Petty cash D2(b)—(e)
Introduction

From your studies of the first three chapters you should have grasped some
important points about the nature and purpose of accounting.

° Most organisations provide products and services in the hope of
making a profit for their owners, by receiving payment in money for
those goods and services.

° The role of the accounting system is to record these monetary effects
and create information about them.

You should also, by now, understand the basic principles underlying the
statement of financial position and income statement and have an idea of what
they look like.

We now turn our attention to the process by which a business transaction
works its way through to the financial statements.

It is usual to record a business transaction on a document. Such documents
include invoices, orders, credit notes and goods received notes, all of which
will be discussed in Section 1 of this chapter. In terms of the accounting
system these are known as source documents. The information on them is
processed by the system by, for example, aggregating (adding together) or
classifying.

Records of source documents are kept in 'books of prime entry', which, as the
name suggests, are the first stage at which a business transaction enters into
the accounting system. The various types of books of prime entry are
discussed in Sections 2 to 4. We will also look at the treatment of petty cash in
Section 5.

In the next chapter we consider what happens to transactions after the books of
prime entry stage.




Study guide

C1 Double-entry bookkeeping principles including the maintenance of
accounting records and sources of information

(a) Identify and explain the function of the main data sources in an accounting 1
system

(b) Outline the contents and purpose of different types of business 1

documentation, including: quotation, sales order, purchase order, goods
received note, goods dispatched note, invoice, statement, credit note, debit
note, remittance advice, receipt.

(f) Identify the main types of business transactions, eg sales, purchases, 1
payments, receipts.

C2 Ledger accounts, books of prime entry and journals

(a) Identify the main types of ledger accounts and books of prime entry, and 1
understand their nature and function.

D1 Sales and purchases

(a) Record sale and purchase transactions in ledger accounts and in day books. 1

(b) Understand and record sales and purchase returns. 1

D2 Cash

(@) Record cash transactions in ledger accounts. 1

(b) Understand the need for a record of petty cash transactions. 1

(c) Describe the features and operations of a petty cash imprest system. 1

(d) Account for petty cash using imprest and non-imprest methods. 1

(e) Understand the importance of, and identify controls and security over the 1

petty cash system.

Exam guide

These topics are likely to be examined by means of asking which books of prime entry you could use to
record a set of transactions.

1 The role of source documents

FAST FORWARD . . :
_) Business transactions are recorded on source documents. Examples include sales and purchase orders,
invoices and credit notes.

1.1 Types of source documents

Whenever a business transaction takes place, involving sales or purchases, receiving or paying money, or
owing or being owed money, it is usual for the transaction to be recorded on a document. These
documents are the source of all the information recorded by a business.

Documents used to record the business transactions in the 'books of account' of the business include
the following.

. Quotation. A business makes a written offer to a customer to produce or deliver goods or services
for a certain amount of money.
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. Sales order. A customer writes out or signs an order for goods or services he requires.

. Purchase order. A business orders from another business goods or services, such as material
supplies.

o Goods received note. A list of goods that a business has received from a supplier. This is usually
prepared by the business’s own warehouse or goods receiving area.

o Goods despatched note. A list of goods that a business has sent out to a customer.

o Invoice. This is discussed further below.

. Statement. A document sent out by a supplier to a customer listing all invoices, credit notes and
payments received from the customer.

. Credit note. A document sent by a supplier to a customer in respect of goods returned or

overpayments made by the customer. It is a ‘negative’ invoice.

. Debit note. A document sent by a customer to a supplier in respect of goods returned or an
overpayment made. It is a formal request for the supplier to issue a credit note.

o Remittance advice. A document sent with a payment, detailing which invoices are being paid and
which credit notes offset.
. Receipt. A written confirmation that money has been paid. This is usually in respect of cash sales,

eg a till receipt from a cash register.

1.2 Invoices

Key term An invoice relates to a sales order or a purchase order.

. When a business sells goods or services on credit to a customer, it sends out an invoice. The
details on the invoice should match the details on the sales order. The invoice is a request for the
customer to pay what he owes.

. When a business buys goods or services on credit it receives an invoice from the supplier. The
details on the invoice should match the details on the purchase order.

The invoice is primarily a demand for payment, but it is used for other purposes as well, as we shall see.
Since it has several uses, an invoice is often produced on multi-part stationery, or photocopied, or
carbon-copied. The top copy will go to the customer and other copies will be used by various people
within the business.

1.2.1 What does an invoice show?

Most invoices are numbered, so that the business can keep track of all the invoices it sends out.
Information usually shown on an invoice includes the following.

a)  Name and address of the seller and the purchaser

b Date of the sale

c)  Description of what is being sold

d)  Quantity and unit price of what has been sold (eg 20 pairs of shoes at $25 a pair)

e)  Details of trade discount, if any (eg 10% reduction in cost if buying over 100 pairs of shoes)
f) Total amount of the invoice including (usually) details any of sales tax

g)  Sometimes, the date by which payment is due, and other terms of sale

1.2.2 Uses of multi-part invoices

As stated above invoices may be used for different purposes.

. Top copy to customer as a request for payment

. Second copy to accounts department to match to eventual payment

. Third copy to ware house to generate a despatch of goods, as evidenced by a goods despatched
note.

o Fourth copy stapled to sales order and kept in sales department as a record of sales.
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Please note that businesses will design their own invoices and there may be other copies for other
departments. Not all businesses will need four part invoices. A very small business may use the customer
copy of the invoice as a despatch note as well. In addition, the sales invoice may be stapled to the sales
order and both documents passed to the accounts department.

1.3 The credit note

China Supplies sent out an invoice for 20 dinner plates, but the typist accidentally typed in a total of
$162.10, instead of $62.10. The china shop has been overcharged by $100. What is China Supplies
to do?

Alternatively, when the china shop received the plates it found that they had all been broken in the post
and that it was going to send them back. Although the china shop has received an invoice for $62.10, it
has no intention of paying it because the plates were useless. Again, what is China Supplies to do?

The answer is that China Supplies sends out a credit note. A credit note is sometimes printed in red to
distinguish it from an invoice. Otherwise, it will be made out in much the same way as an invoice, but with
less detail and 'Credit Note Number' instead of 'Invoice Number'.

Key term A credit note is a document relating to returned goods or refunds when a customer has been
overcharged. It can be regarded as a negative invoice.

1.4 Other documents

The following documents are sometimes used in connection with sales and purchases.

(@)  Debit notes
(b)  Goods received notes

A debit note might be issued to adjust an invoice already issued. This is also commonly achieved by
issuing a revised invoice after raising a credit or debit note purely for internal purposes (ie to keep the
records straight).

More commonly, a debit note is issued to a supplier as a means of formally requesting a credit note.

Goods received notes (GRNSs) record a receipt of goods, most commonly in a warehouse. They may be
used in addition to suppliers' advice notes. Often the accounts department will require to see the relevant
GRN before paying a supplier's invoice. Even where GRNs are not routinely used, the details of a
consignment from a supplier which arrives without an advice note must always be recorded.

‘% Credit note

Fill in the blanks.

'China Supplies sendsouta............ to a credit customer in order to correct an error where a
customer has been overchargedonan............ '

Credit note; invoice.

2 The need for books of prime entry

In the course of business, source documents are created. The details on these source documents need to
be summarised, as otherwise the business might forget to ask for some money, or forget to pay some, or
even accidentally pay something twice. In other words, it needs to keep records of source documents — of
transactions — so that it knows what is going on. Such records are made in books of prime entry.
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Books of prime entry are books in which we first record transactions.

The main books of prime entry are as follows.

(@)  Sales day book
) Purchase day book
) Sales returns day book
(d)  Purchase returns day book
) Journal (described in the next chapter)
(f) Cash book
(9)  Petty cash book

It is worth bearing in mind that, for convenience, this chapter describes books of prime entry as if they are
actual books written by hand. However, books of prime entry are often not books at all, but rather files
hidden in the memory of a computer. However, the principles remain the same whether they are manual or
computerised.

You may get a question on books of prime entry, also you need to know where the entries to the ledger
accounts come from and how they are posted.

3 Sales and purchase day hooks

Invoices and credit notes are recorded in day books.

3.1 The sales day hook

The sales day book is the book of prime entry for credit sales.

The sales day book is used to keep a list of all invoices sent out to customers each day. An extract from a
sales day book might look like this.

SALES DAY BOOK
Total amount
Date Invoice Customer invoiced
20X0 $
Jan 10 247 Jones & Co 105.00
248 Smith Co 86.40
249 Alex & Co 31.80
250 Enor College 1,264.60
1,487.80

Most businesses 'analyse’ their sales. For example, this business sells boots and shoes. The sale to Smith
was entirely boots, the sale to Alex was entirely shoes, and the other two sales were a mixture of both.

Then the sales day book might look like this.

SALES DAY BOOK
Total amount
Date Invoice Customer invoiced Boot sales Shoe sales
20X0 $ $ $
Jan 10 247 Jones & Co 105.00 60.00 45.00
248 Smith Co 86.40 86.40
249 Alex & Co 31.80 31.80
250 Enor College 1,264.60 800.30 464.30
1,487.80 946.70 541.10
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The analysis gives the managers of the business useful information which helps them to decide how best
to run the business.

3.2 The purchase day book

A business also keeps a record in the purchase day book of all the invoices it receives.

Key term The purchase day book is the book of prime entry for credit purchases.

An extract from a purchase day book might look like this.

PURCHASE DAY BOOK
Total amount

Date Supplier Invoiced Purchases Electricity etc

20X8 $ $ $

Mar 15 Cook & Co 315.00 315.00

W Butler 29.40 29.40
EEB 116.80 116.80
Show Fair Co 100.00 100.00

561.20 44440 116.80

o There is no 'invoice number' column, because the purchase day book records other people’s
invoices, which have all sorts of different numbers.

. Like the sales day book, the purchase day book analyses the invoices which have been sent in. In
this example, three of the invoices related to goods which the business intends to re-sell (called
simply 'purchases') and the other invoice was an electricity bill.

3.3 The sales returns day book

When customers return goods for some reason, a credit note is raised. All credit notes are recorded in the

sales returns day book. An extract from the sales returns day book follows.

SALES RETURNS DAY BOOK

Date Credit note Customer and goods Amount

20X8 $

30 April CR008 Owen Plenty

3 pairs 'Texas' boots 135.00
Key term

The sales returns day book is the book of prime entry for credit notes raised.

Not all sales returns day books analyse what goods were returned, but it makes sense to keep as complete
a record as possible. Where a business has very few sales returns, it may record a credit note as a
negative entry in the sales day book.

3.4 The purchase returns day book

Not surprisingly, the purchase returns day book records credit notes received in respect of goods which
the business sends back to its suppliers.

An extract from the purchase returns day book follows.
PURCHASE RETURNS DAY BOOK

Date Supplier and goods Amount
20X8 $
29 April Boxes Co

300 cardboard boxes 46.60
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The purchase returns day book is the book of prime entry for credit notes received from suppliers.

Once again, a business with very few purchase returns may record a credit note received as a negative
entry in the purchase day book.

4 Gash hook

The cash book may be a manual record or a computer file. It records all transaction that go through the
bank account.

4.1 The cash hook

The cash book is also a day book, used to keep a record of money received and money paid out by the
business. The cash book deals with money paid into and out of the business bank account. This could be
money received on the business premises in notes, coins and cheques, subsequently paid into the bank.
There are also receipts and payments made by bank transfer, standing order, direct debit and bank interest
and charges, directly by the bank.

Some cash, in notes and coins, is usually kept on the business premises in order to make occasional
payments for odd items of expense. This cash is usually accounted for separately in a petty cash book
(which we will look at shortly).

One side (the left) of the cash book is used to record receipts of cash, and the other side (the right) is
used to record payments. The best way to see how the cash book works is to follow through an example.
For convenience, we are showing the cash receipts and cash payments sides separately, but they are part
of the same book.

The cash book is the book of prime entry for cash receipts and payments.

4.2 Example: Cash hook

At the beginning of 1 September, Robin Plenty had $900 in the bank.
During 1 September 20X7, Robin Plenty had the following receipts and payments.

a)  Cash sale: receipt of $80

b)  Payment from credit customer Hay $400 less discount allowed $20
c)  Payment from credit customer Been $720

d)  Payment from credit customer Seed $150 less discount allowed $10 —
e)  Cheque received for cash to provide a short-term loan from Len Dinger $1,800
f) Second cash sale: receipt of $150

g Cash received for sale of machine $200

h)  Payment to supplier Kew $120

) Payment to supplier Hare $310

i) Payment of telephone bill $400

k)  Payment of gas bill $280

1) $100 in cash withdrawn from bank for petty cash

m)  Payment of $1,500 to Hess for new plant and machinery

If you look through these transactions, you will see that seven of them are receipts and six of them
are payments. S

The receipts part of the cash book for 1 September would look like this.

Part C The use of double entry and accounting systems | 4: Sources, records and books of prime entry m



CASH BOOK (RECEIPTS)

Date Narrative Total
20X7 $

1 Sept Balance b/d* 900

Cash sale 80

Accounts receivable: Hay 380

Accounts receivable: Been 720

Accounts receivable: Seed 140

Loan: Len Dinger 1,800

Cash sale 150

Sale of non-current asset 200

4,370

* 'b/d" = brought down (ie brought forward)

Points to . There is space on the right hand side of the cash book so that the receipts can be analysed under

note various headings — for example, 'cash from receivables’, ‘cash sales' and 'other receipts'.

. The cash received in the day amounted to $3,470. Added to the $900 at the start of the day, this
comes to $4,370. This is not the amount to be carried forward to the next day, because first we
have to subtract all the payments made during 1 September.

The payments part of the cash book for 1 September would look like this.
CASH BOOK (PAYMENTS)

Date Narrative Total
20X7 $
1 Sept Accounts payable: Kew 120
Accounts payable: Hare 310
Telephone 400
Gas bill 280
Petty cash 100
Machinery purchase 1,500
Balance c/d (balancing figure) 1,660
4,370

As you can see, this is very similar to the receipts part of the cash book. The only points to note are
as follows.

(@)  The analysis on the right would be under headings like 'payments to payables, 'payments into petty
cash', 'wages' and 'other payments'.

(b)  Payments during 1 September totalled $2,710. We know that the total of receipts was $4,370. That
means that there is a balance of $4,370 — $2,710 = $1,660 to be 'carried down' to the start of the
next day. As you can see this 'balance carried down' is noted at the end of the payments column, so
that the receipts and payments totals show the same figure of $4,370 at the end of 1 September.

With analysis columns completed, the cash book given in the examples above might look as follows.
CASH BOOK (RECEIPTS)

Accounts Cash

Date Narrative Total receivable sales Other
20X7 $ $ $ $
1 Sept  Balance b/d 900

Cash sale 80 80

Accounts receivable: Hay 380 380

Accounts receivable: Been 720 720

Accounts receivable: Seed 140 140

Loan: Len Dinger 1,800 1,800

Cash sale 150 150

Sale of non-current asset 200 - 200

4,370 1,240 230 2,000
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CASH BOOK (PAYMENTS)
Accounts Petty

Date Narrative Total payable cash Wages Other
$ $ $ $ $
20X7
1 Sept  Account payable: Kew 120 120
Account payable: Hare 310 310
Telephone 400 400
Gas bill 280 280
Petty cash 100 100
Machinery purchase 1,500 1,500
Balance c/d 1,660 o o o
4,370 430 100 - 2,180

4.3 Bank statements

Weekly or monthly, a business will receive a bank statement. Bank statements should be used to check
that the amount shown as a balance in the cash book agrees with the amount on the bank statement, and
that no cash has 'gone missing'. This agreement or 'reconciliation’ of the cash book with a bank statement
is the subject of a later chapter.

5 Petty cash

Most businesses keep petty cash on the premises, which is topped up from the main bank account. Under
the imprest system, the petty cash is kept at an agreed sum, so that each topping up is equal to the
amount paid out in the period.

5.1 What is petty cash?

Most businesses keep a small amount of cash on the premises to make occasional small payments in
cash, eg staff refreshments, postage stamps, to pay the office cleaner, taxi fares, etc. This is often called
the cash float or petty cash account. The cash float can also be the resting place for occasional small
receipts, eg cash paid by a visitor to make a phone call, etc.

5.2 Security

As you will appreciate, keeping cash (even in small amounts) on the premises is a security risk. Therefore R
a petty cash system is usually subject to strict controls.

. Payment is only made in respect of authorised claims.
. All claims are supported by evidence.

In addition, the business may use the imprest system (see Section 5.4 below).

5.2.1 Authorisation

An employee must complete a petty cash voucher detailing the expenses claimed. Usually receipts must
be attached to the voucher (see below: evidence). The completed voucher then needs to be signed by
(say) the employee’s manager to authorise payment. Some times the petty cashier may be authorised to
sign vouchers for small amounts (eg $5 or less) if these are supported by receipts.

5.2.2 Evidence

All petty cash vouchers must have receipts for the expenditure attached, as evidence that the employee
has really incurred that cost. Sometimes receipts may not be available (eg taxi fares) and the employer
may then have systems in place to authorise claims without evidence.
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5.3 The petty cash hook

Key term A petty cash book is a cash book for small payments.
Although the amounts involved are small, petty cash transactions still need to be recorded; otherwise the
cash float could be abused for personal expenses or even stolen.
There are usually more payments than receipts, and petty cash must be 'topped up' from time to time with
cash from the business bank account. A typical layout follows.
PETTY CASH BOOK
Receipts  Date Narrative Total Milk Postage Travel Other
$ 20X7 $ $ $ $ $
250 1 Sept  Bal b/d
Milk bill 25 25
Postage stamps 5 5
Taxi fare 10 10
Flowers for sick staff 15 15
o Bal ¢/d 195 _ _ _ _
250 250 2 5 10 15
5.4 Imprest system
Under what is called the imprest system, the amount of money in petty cash is kept at an agreed sum or
float' (say $250). This is called the imprest amount. Expense items are recorded on vouchers as they
occur, so that at any time:
$
Cash still held in petty cash 195
Plus voucher payments (25+5+10+15) 55
Must equal the imprest amount 250
The total float is made up regularly (to $250, or whatever the imprest amount is) by means of a cash
payment from the bank account into petty cash. The amount of the 'top-up' into petty cash will be the total
of the voucher payments since the previous top-up.
Key term The imprest system makes a refund of the total paid out in a period.
Exam focus
point The June 2008 exam included a question asking students to calculate the imprest amount. Many students
didn’t read the question carefully enough and so arrived at a wrong answer. Make sure that you follow the
example below, which demonstrates the correct technique.

5.5 Example: petty cash and the imprest system

DEF operates an imprest system for petty cash. During February 20X9, the following petty cash
transactions took place.

$
2.2.X9 Stamps 12.00
3.2.X9 Milk 25.00
8.2.X9 Taxi fare 15.00
17.2.X9 Stamps 5.00
18.2.X9 Received from staff for photocopying 8.00
28.2.X9 Stationery 7.50
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The amount remaining in petty cash at the end of the month was $93.50. What is the imprest amount?

A $166.00
B $150.00
C $72.50
D $56.50
The solution is B.
$

Opening balance (imprest amount) 150.00 (balancing figure)
Add: amount received from staff 8.00

158.00
Less: expenditure (64.50) (12+25+15+5+7.50)
Cash in hand at end of month 93.50

ﬁ Books of prime entry

State which books of prime entry the following transactions would be entered into.

a)  Your business pays A Brown (a supplier) $450.00.

) You send D Smith (a customer) an invoice for $650.

) Your accounts manager asks you for $12 urgently in order to buy some envelopes.
) You receive an invoice from A Brown for $300.

) You pay D Smith $500.

) F Jones (a customer) returns goods to the value of $250.

g)  You return goods to J Green to the value of $504.

h)  FJones pays you $500.

a)  Cash book

b)  Sales day book

c)  Petty cash book

d)  Purchases day book

e)  Cash book

f)  Sales returns day book

g)  Purchase returns day book
h)  Cash book
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Chapter Roundup

° Business transactions are recorded on source documents. Examples include sales and purchase orders,
invoices and credit notes.

° The main books of prime entry are as follows.

= Sales day book

— Purchase day book

- Sales returns day book

= Purchase returns day book

= Journal (described in the next chapter)
= Cash book

- Petty cash book

o Invoices and credit notes are recorded in day books.

. The cash book may be a manual record or a computer file. It records all transactions that go through the
bank account.

° Most businesses keep petty cash on the premises which is topped up from the main bank account. Under

the imprest system the petty cash is kept at an agreed sum so that each topping up is equal to the amount
paid out in the period.

1 Name four pieces of information normally shown on an invoice.
2 Which of the following is not a book of prime entry.

A Sales invoice

B Purchase day book

C Sales day book

D Journal
3 Which of the following is a source document for petty cash.

A Purchase invoice

B Quotation

C Sales invoice

D Receipt and claim form

4 What is the purchase returns day book used to record?
A Supplier's invoices
B Customer's invoices

C Details of goods returned to suppliers
D Details of goods returned by customers

5 What is the difference between the cash book and the petty cash book?

6 Petty cash is controlled under an imprest system. The imprest amount is $100. During a period, payments
totalling $53 have been made. How much needs to be reimbursed at the end of the period to restore petty
cash to the imprest account?

A $100
B $53
C $47
D $50

7 All petty cash claims are automatically paid from petty cash.
Is this statement:

A True
B False
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6

Four from the following

O T > o6 o o o o o o o o

Invoice number

Seller's name and address

Purchaser's name and address

Date of sale

Description of goods or services

Quantity and unit price

Trade discount (if any)

Total amount, including sales tax (if any)

Any special terms

Sales invoice is a source document

The claim form and receipt form the source document for the petty cash system.
Supplier's invoices (A) are recorded in the purchase day book, customer's invoices (B) are
recorded in the sales day book and goods returned by customers (D) are recorded in the sales
returns day book.

The cash book records amounts paid into or out of the bank account. The petty cash book records
payments of small amounts of cash.

B

B

Under the imprest system, a reimbursement is made of the amount of the vouchers (or payments
made) for the period.

Only authorised and evidenced petty cash claims are paid out of petty cash.

Now try the questions below from the Exam Question Bank

Q7 Examination 2 2 mins

Q8 Examination 1 1 min
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1 Why do we need ledger accounts? C1(e)

2 The nominal ledger C1(e), C2(a), C3(a)
3 The accounting equation C1(d), D8(a)

4 Double entry bookkeeping C1(c), D2(a)

5 The journal C2(b)—(c)

6 Day book analysis D1(a)—(b)

7 The imprest system D2(q)

8 The receivables and payables ledgers D1(a)—(b), D8(a)
Introduction

In the previous chapter we saw how to organise transactions into lists (ie
entered into books of prime entry). It is not easy, however, to see how a
business is doing from the information scattered throughout these books of
prime entry. The lists need to be summarised. This is ledger accounting, which
we look at in Sections 1 and 2.

The summary is produced in the nominal ledger by a process you may have
heard of known as double entry bookkeeping. This is the cornerstone of
accounts preparation and is surprisingly simple, once you have grasped the
rules. We will look at the essentials in Sections 3 and 4.

In Section 5, we will deal with the final book of prime entry: the journal.

We will then look in detail at posting transactions from the day books to the
ledgers in Sections 6 and 7.

Finally, we will consider how to deal with credit transactions in Section 8.

If you want to get free study material of CAT,
ACCA, CIMA, CFA, CIA visit : freefor911.wordpress.com




Study guide

C1 Double entry bookkeeping principles including the maintenance of
accounting records and sources of information

(c) Understand and apply the concept of double entry accounts and the duality 1
concept.

(d) Understand and apply the accounting equation. 1

(e) Understand how the accounting system contributes to providing useful 1
accounting information and complies with organisational deadlines.

C2 Ledger accounts, books of prime entry and journals

(a) Identify the main types of ledger accounts and books of prime entry, and 1
understand their nature and function.

(b) Understand and illustrate the uses of journals and the posting of journal 1
entries into ledger accounts.

(c) Identify correct journals from given narrative. 1

C3 Accounting systems and the impact of information technology on
financial reporting

(a) Understand the basic function and form of accounting records in a typical 1
manual system

D1 Sales purchases

(a) Record sale and purchase transactions in ledger accounts and in day books. 1

(b) Understand and record sales and purchase returns. 1

D2 Cash

(a) Record cash transactions in ledger accounts. 1

(d) Account for petty cash using imprest and non imprest methods 1

D8 Receivable and payables

(a) Explain and identify examples of receivables and payables. 1

Exam guide

This chapter is the fundamental background for all accounting. It is, therefore, extremely important and is
highly likely to be examined.

1 Why do we need ledger accounts?

) Ledger accounts summatrise all the individual transactions listed in the books of prime entry.

A business is continually making transactions, eg buying and selling, and we do not want to prepare an
income statement and a statement of financial position on completion of every individual transaction. To
do so would be a time-consuming and cumbersome administrative task.

It is common sense that a business should keep a record of the transactions that it makes, the assets it
acquires and liabilities it incurs. When the time comes to prepare an income statement and a statement of
financial position, the relevant information can be taken from those records.

The records of transactions, assets and liabilities should be kept in the following ways.

(a) In chronological order, and dated so that transactions can be related to a particular period of time.
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(b)  Built up in cumulative totals.

(i) Day by day (eg total sales on Monday, total sales on Tuesday)
(i)  Week by week

(iii) ~ Month by month

(iv)  Year by year

We have already seen the first step in this process, which is to list all the transactions in various books of
prime entry. Now we will look at the method used to summarise these records: ledger accounting and
double entry.

This system of summarising information speeds up the provision of useful information to managers and
so helps managers to keep to organisational deadlines (eg provision of monthly profit figures for
management purposes).

2 The nominal ledger

The principal accounts are contained in a ledger called the general or nominal ledger.

The nominal ledger is an accounting record which summarises the financial affairs of a business.

The nominal ledger is sometimes called the 'general ledger'. The information contained in the books of
prime entry (see Chapter 4) is summarised and posted to accounts in the nominal ledger.

It contains details of assets, liabilities, capital, income and expenditure, and so profit and loss. It consists of a
large number of different accounts, each account having its own purpose or 'name' and an identity or code.

There may be various subdivisions, whether for convenience, ease of handling, confidentiality, security, or
to meet the needs of computer software design. For example, the ledger may be split alphabetically, with
different clerks responsible for sections A-F, G-M, N-R and S-Z. This can help to stop fraud, as there
would have to be collusion between the different section clerks.

Examples of accounts in the nominal ledger include the following.

) Motor expenses (expense item)

0)  Telephone expenses (expense item)
) Sales (revenue item)

(a)  Total cash or bank overdraft (current asset or liability)

(@)  Plant and machinery at cost (non-current asset)
(b)  Motor vehicles at cost (non-current asset)

(c)  Plantand machinery, provision for depreciation (liability)
(d)  Motor vehicles, provision for depreciation (liability)
(e)  Proprietor's capital (liability)

(f) Inventories — raw materials (current asset)

(9)  Inventories —finished goods (current asset)

(h)  Total trade accounts receivable (current asset)

(i) Total trade accounts payable (current liability)

(i) Wages and salaries (expense item)

(k) Rentand local taxes (expense item)

)] Advertising expenses (expense item)

(m)  Bank charges (expense item)

(

(

(

When it comes to drawing up the financial statements, the revenue and expense accounts will help to form
the income statement; while the asset and liability accounts go into the statement of financial position.

2.1 The format of a ledger account

If a ledger account were to be kept in an actual book, rather than as a computer record, it might look
like this:
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ADVERTISING EXPENSES

Date Narrative Ref. $ | Date  Narrative Ref. $
20X6
15 April  JFK Agency for quarter PL 348 2,500

to 31 March

For the rest of this chapter, we will assume that a manual system is being used, in order to illustrate fully
the working of the ledger accounts. However, a computerised system performs the same functions
although the actual ledger accounts may be 'hidden' inside the computer!

There are two sides to the account, and an account heading on top, and so it is convenient to think in
terms of 'T' accounts.

(@)  Ontop of the account is its name.
(b)  There is a left hand side, or debit side.
(c)  Thereis aright hand side, or credit side.

NAME OF ACCOUNT

DEBIT SIDE $ CREDIT SIDE $

We will look at ‘debits’ and ‘credits’ in detail in Section 4, but first we shall consider the accounting
equation.

3 The accounting equation

) The accounting equation emphasises the equality between assets and liabilities (including capital as
a liability).

We will start by showing how to account for a business's transactions from the time that trading first
begins. We will use an example to illustrate the 'accounting equation’, ie the rule that the assets of a
business will at all times equal its liabilities. This is also known as the statement of financial position
equation.

3.1 Example: The accounting equation

Key term Business entity concept. Regardless of how a business is legally set up, in accounting a business is
always treated separately from its owners(s).
Liza Doolittle starts a business. The business begins by owning the cash that Liza has put into it, $2,500.
The business is a separate entity in accounting terms and so it owes the money to Liza as capital.

Key term

In accounting, capital is an investment of money (funds) with the intention of earning a return. A business
proprietor invests capital with the intention of earning profit. As long as that money is invested,
accountants will treat the capital as money owed to the proprietor by the business.

When Liza Doolittle sets up her business:

Capital invested $2,500
Cash $2,500

Capital invested is a form of liability, because it is an amount owed by the business to its owner(s).
Adapting this to the idea that assets and liabilities are always equal amounts, we can state the accounting
equation as follows.
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Formula to The accounting equation is:
learn ASSETS = CAPITAL + LIABILITIES

For Liza Doolittle, as at 1 July 20X6:
Assets
$2,500 (cash)

Capital +  Liabilities
$2,500 + %0

3.2 Example continued

Liza Doolittle purchases a market stall from Len Turnip, who is retiring from his fruit and vegetables
business. The cost of the stall is $1,800.

She also purchases some flowers and potted plants from a trader in the wholesale market, at a cost
of $650. This leaves $50 in cash, after paying for the stall and goods for resale, out of the original $2,500.

The assets and liabilities of the business have now altered, and at 3 July before trading begins, the state of
her business is as follows.

Assets =  Capital +  Liabilities
$

Stall 1,800 = $2,500 + $0
Flower and plants 650
Cash 50
2,500

The stall and the flowers and plants are physical items, but they must be given a money value. This money
value is usually what they cost the business (called historical cost in accounting terms).

3.3 Profit introduced into the accounting equation

On 3 July Liza has a very successful day. She sells all of her flowers and plants for $900 cash.

Since Liza has sold goods costing $650 to earn revenue of $900, we can say that she has earned a profit
of $250 on the day's trading.

Profits belong to the owners of a business. In this case, the $250 belongs to Liza Doolittle. However, so
long as the business retains the profits and does not pay anything out to its owners, the retained profits
are accounted for as an addition to the proprietor's capital.

Assels =  Capital + Liabilities
$ $
Stall 1,800 Original investment 2,500
Flower and plants 0 Retained profit
Cash (50 + 900) 950 (900 - 650) 250
2,750 2,750 $0
We can re-arrange the accounting equation to help us to calculate the capital balance.
Assets — liabilities = Capital, which is the same as
Net assets = Capital

At the beginning and end of 3 July 20X6, Liza Doolittle's financial position was as follows.

Net assets Capital
(@) At the beginning of the day:  $(2,500 — 0) = $2,500 = $2,500
(b) At the end of the day: $(2,750 - 0) = $2,750 = $2,750

There has been an increase of $250 in net assets, which is the amount of profits earned during the day.
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3.4 Drawings

Key term Drawings are amounts of money taken out of a business by its owner.
Since Liza Doolittle has made a profit of $250 from her first day's work, she might want to withdraw some
money from the business. After all, business owners, like everyone else, need income for living expenses.
Liza decides to pay herself $180 in 'wages'. However, the $180 is not an expense to be deducted in
arriving at the figure of net profit. In other words, it is incorrect to calculate the net profit earned by the
business as follows.
$
Profit on sale of flowers etc 250
Less 'wages' paid to Liza 180
Net profit earned by business (incorrect) 70
This is because any amounts paid by a business to its proprietor are treated by accountants as
withdrawals of profit (the usual term is drawings) and not as expenses incurred by the business. In the
case of Liza's business, the true position is that the net profit earned is the $250 surplus on sale of
flowers.
$
Net profit earned by business 250
Less profit withdrawn by Liza 180
Net profit retained in the business 70
Profits are capital as long as they are retained in the business. Once they are withdrawn, the business
suffers a reduction in capital.
The withdrawals of profit are taken in cash, and so the business loses $180 of its cash assets. After the
withdrawals have been made, the accounting equation would be restated.
(@)  Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$ $
Stall 1,800 Original investment 2,500
Flowers and plants 0 Retained profit
Cash (950 - 180) 770 (250 - 180) 70
2,570 2,570 + $0
(b)  Alternatively Net assets Capital
$(2,570-0) = $2,570
The increase in net assets since trading operations began is now only $(2,570 — 2,500) = $70, which is the
amount of the retained profits.
ﬁ Capital
el P

Which of the following is correct?

A Capital = assets + liabilities
B Capital = liabilities — assets
C Capital = assets — liabilities
D Capital + assets = liabilities

The correct answer is C. As assets = liabilities + capital, then capital = assets — liabilities
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3.5 Example continued

You should now be aware that, when business transactions are accounted for it should be possible to
restate the assets and liabilities of the business after the transactions have taken place.

The next market day is on 10 July and Liza purchases more flowers and plants for cash, at a cost of $740.
She is not feeling well, because of a heavy cold, and so she decides to accept help for the day from her
cousin Ethel. Ethel is to be paid a wage of $40 at the end of the day.

Trading on 10 July was again very brisk, and Liza and Ethel sold all their goods for $1,100 cash. Liza paid
Ethel her wage of $40 and drew out $200 for herself.

Required

(@)  State the accounting equation before trading began on 10 July.
(b)  State the accounting equation at the end of 10 July, after paying Ethel:

(i) but before drawings are made.
(i)  after drawings have been made.

You are reminded that the accounting equation for the business at the end of transactions for 3 July is
given in Paragraph 3.4.

Solution
(@)  After the purchase of the goods for $740.
Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$
Stall 1,800
Goods 740
Cash (770 — 740) 30
2,570 = $2,570 + $0
(b)y (i) On 10 July, all the goods are sold for $1,100 cash, and Ethel is paid $40. The profit for the
day is $320.
$ $
Sales 1,100
Less cost of goods sold 740
Ethel's wage 40
780
Profit 320
Assets =  Capital +  Liabilities
$ $
Stall 1,800 At beginning of 10 July 2,570
Goods 0 Profits earned on 10 July 320
Cash
(30+1,100-40) 1,090
2,890 2,890 + $0
(i) After Liza has withdrawn $200 in cash, retained profits will be only $(320 — 200) = $120.
Assets =  Capital +  Liabilities
$ $
Stall 1,800 At beginning of 10 July 2,570
Goods 0 Retained profits 120
Cash for 10 July
(1,090 — 200) 890
2,690 2,690 + $0
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Tutorial note | 1+ is very important you should understand the principles described so far. Do not read on until you are

confident that you understand the solution to this example.

3.6 Payables and receivables

FAST FORWARD S .
_) Trade accounts payable are liabilities. Trade accounts receivable are assets.

3.6.1 Trade accounts payable and trade accounts receivable

Key term A payable is a person to whom a business owes money.

A trade payable is a person to whom a business owes money for debts incurred in the course of trading
operations. In the accounts of a business, debts still outstanding which arise from the purchase of
materials, components or goods for resale are called trade accounts payable, sometimes abbreviated to
‘accounts payable' or 'payables’.

A business does not always pay immediately for goods or services it buys. It is a common business
practice to make purchases on credit, with a promise to pay within 30 days, or two months or three
months, of the date of the invoice for the goods. For example, A buys goods costing $2,000 on credit from
B, B sends A an invoice for $2,000, dated 1 March, with credit terms that payment must be made within
30 days. If A then delays payment until 31 March, B will be a payable of A between 1 and 31 March for
$2,000. From A's point of view, the amount owed to B is a trade account payable.

A trade account payable is a liability of a business.

Key term Just as a business might buy goods on credit, so too might it sell goods to customers on credit. A

customer who buys goods without paying cash for them straight away is a receivable.

For example, suppose that C sells goods on credit to D for $6,000 on terms that the debt must be settled
within two months of the invoice date 1 October. If D does not pay the $6,000 until 30 November, D will
be a receivable of C for $6,000 from 1 October until 30 November. In the accounts of the business,
amounts owed by receivables are called trade accounts receivable, sometimes abbreviated to 'accounts
receivable' or 'receivables’'.

A trade account receivable is an asset of a business. When the debt is finally paid, the trade account
receivable 'disappears' as an asset, to be replaced by 'cash at bank and in hand'.

3.6.2 Example continued

The example of Liza Doolittle's market stall is continued, by looking at the consequences of the following
transactions in the week to 17 July 20X6. (See Paragraph 3.5 for the situation as at the end of 10 July.)

(a)  Liza Doolittle realises that she is going to need more money in the business and so she makes the
following arrangements.

(i) She invests immediately a further $250 of her own capital.

(i) She persuades her Uncle Henry to lend her $500 immediately. Uncle Henry tells her that she
can repay the loan whenever she likes, but in the meantime, she must pay him interest of $5
each week at the end of the market day. They agree that it will probably be quite a long time
before the loan is eventually repaid.

(b)  She decides to buy a second hand van to pick up flowers and plants from her supplier and bring
them to her stall in the market. She finds a car dealer, Laurie Loader, who agrees to sell her a van
on credit for $700. Liza agrees to pay for the van after 30 days' trial use.

(c)  During the week, Liza's Uncle George telephones her to ask whether she would sell him some
garden gnomes and furniture for his garden. Liza tells him that she will look for a supplier. After
some investigations, she buys what Uncle George has asked for, paying $300 in cash to the
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(e)

(f)

supplier. Uncle George accepts delivery of the goods and agrees to pay $350, but he asks if she
can wait until the end of the month for payment. Liza agrees.

Liza buys flowers and plants costing $800. Of these purchases $750 are paid in cash, with the
remaining $50 on seven days' credit. Liza decides to use Ethel's services again as an assistant on
market day, at an agreed wage of $40.

On 17 July, Liza succeeds in selling all her goods earning revenue of $1,250 (all in cash). She
decides to withdraw $240 for her week's work. She also pays Ethel $40 in cash. She decides to
make the interest payment to her Uncle Henry the next time she sees him.

We shall ignore any van expenses for the week, for the sake of relative simplicity.

Required

State the accounting equation:

)

After Liza and Uncle Henry have put more money into the business and after the purchase of
the van.

After the sale of goods to Uncle George.
After the purchase of goods for the weekly market

(iv)  Atthe end of the day's trading on 17 July, and after withdrawals have been appropriated out
of profit.
Solution

There are a number of different transactions to account for here. This solution deals with them one at a
time in chronological order. (In practice, it is possible to do one set of calculations which combines the
results of all the transactions.)

(i

The addition of Liza's extra capital and Uncle Henry's loan

An investment analyst might call Uncle Henry's loan a capital investment, on the grounds that it will
probably be for the long term. Uncle Henry is not the owner of the business, however, even though
he has made an investment of a loan in it. He would only become an owner if Liza offered him a
partnership in the business, and she has not done so. To the business, Uncle Henry is a long-term
payable, and it is more appropriate to define his investment as a liability of the business and not as
business capital.

The accounting equation after $(250 + 500) = $750 cash is put into the business will be:

Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$ $ $
Stall 1,800 As at end of 10 July 2,690 Loan 500
Goods 0 Additional capital put in 250
Cash (890+750) 1,640 -
3,440 - 2,940 500
The purchase of the van (cost $700) on credit
Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$ $ $
Stall 1,800 As at end of 10 July 2,690 Loan 500
Van 700 Additional capital 250 Payables 700
Cash 1,640
4140 = 2,940 + 1,200
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(i) The sale of goods to Uncle George on credit ($350) which cost the business $300 (cash paid)

Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$ $ $
Stall 1,800 As at end of 10 July 2,690 Loan 500
Van 700 Additional capital 250 Payables 700
Receivable 350 Profit on sale to
Cash Uncle George (350 — 300) 50
(1,640 - 300) 1,340
(i)  After the purchase of goods for the weekly market ($750 paid in cash and $50 of purchases on credit)
Assets = Capital +  Liabilities
$ $ $
Stall 1,800 As at end of 10 July 2,690 Loan 500
Van 700 Additional capital 250 Payables
Goods 800 Profit on sale to (van) 700
Receivables 350 Uncle George 50 Payables
Cash (goods) 50
(1,340 - 750) 590
4240 = 2,990 + 1,250

(iv)  After market trading on 17 July

Sales of goods costing $800 earned revenues of $1,250. Ethel's wages were $40 (paid), Uncle
Henry's interest charge is $5 (not paid yet) and withdrawals on account of profits were $240
(paid). The profit for 17 July may be calculated as follows, taking the full $5 of interest as a cost

on that day.
$ $
Sales 1,250
Cost of goods sold 800
Wages 40
Interest 5
845
Profit earned on 17 July 405
Profit on sale of goods to Uncle George 50
Profit for the week 455
Drawings 240
Retained profit 215
Assets = Capital + Liabilities
$ $ $
Stall 1,800 As at end of 10 July 2,690 Loan 500
Van 700 Additional capital 250 Payable for
Goods (800 — 800) 0 Profits retained 215 van 700
Receivables 350 Payable for
Cash (590+ goods 50
1,250 — 40 — 240) 1,560 Payable for
interest
payment 5
4,410 3,155 1,255
3.7 Matching

) The matching convention requires that revenue earned is matched with the expenses incurred in earning it.
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In the example above, we have 'matched’ the revenue earned with the expenses incurred in earning it. So
in part (iv), we included all the costs of the goods sold of $800, even though $50 had not yet been paid in ——
cash. Also the interest of $5 was deducted from revenue, even though it had not yet been paid. This is
known as the matching convention, or accruals convention.

j The accounting equation

How would each of these transactions affect the accounting equation?

) Purchasing $800 worth of inventory on credit
) Paying the telephone bill $25

) Selling $450 worth of inventory for $650

) Paying $800 to the supplier B

(@)  Increase in liabilities (payables) $800
Increase in assets (inventory) $800
(b)  Decrease in assets (cash) $25
Decrease in capital (profit) $25
(c)  Decrease in assets (inventory) $450
Increase in assets (cash) $650
Increase in capital (profit) $200
(d)  Decrease in liabilities (payables) $800
Decrease in assets (cash) $800

4 Double entry hookkeeping

) Double entry bookkeeping is based on the idea that each transaction has an equal but opposite effect.
Every accounting event must be entered in ledger accounts both as a debit and as an equal but opposite
credit.

4.1 Dual effect (duality concept)

Double entry bookkeeping is the method used to transfer our weekly/monthly totals from our books of
prime entry into the nominal ledger.

Central to this process is the idea that every transaction has two effects, the dual effect. This feature is not
something peculiar to businesses. If you were to purchase a car for $1,000 cash for instance, you would
be affected in two ways.

(@)  You owna car worth $1,000.
(b)  You have $1,000 less cash.

If instead you got a bank loan to make the purchase:

(@)  You own a car worth $1,000.
(b)  You owe the bank $1,000.

A month later if you pay a garage $50 to have the exhaust replaced:

(@)  You have $50 less cash.
(b)  You have incurred a repairs expense of $50.
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Ledger accounts, with their debit and credit sides, are kept in a way which allows the two-sided nature of
every transaction to be recorded. This is known as the 'double entry' system of bookkeeping, because
every transaction is recorded twice in the accounts.

4.2 The rules of double entry hookkeeping
) A debit entry will:

. increase an asset

o decrease a liability
. increase an expense
A credit entry will:

° decrease an asset

o increase a liability

. increase income

The basic rule, which must always be observed, is that every financial transaction gives rise to two
accounting entries, one a debit and the other a credit. The total value of debit entries in the nominal
ledger is therefore always equal at any time to the total value of credit entries. Which account receives the
credit entry and which receives the debit depends on the nature of the transaction.

Key terms o Anincrease in an expense (eg a purchase of stationery) or an increase in an asset (eg a purchase
of office furniture) is a debit.
. An increase in revenue (eg a sale) or an increase in a liability (eg buying goods on credit) is a credit.
) A decrease in an asset (eg making a cash payment) is a credit.
o A decrease in a liability (eg paying a creditor) is a debit.
In terms of 'T' accounts:
ASSET LIABILITY CAPITAL
DEBIT $|CREDIT $ DEBIT $| CREDIT $ DEBIT $| CREDIT  $
Increase Decrease Decrease Increase Decrease Increase
For income and expenses, think about profit. Profit retained in the business increases capital. Income
increases profit and expenses decrease profit.
INCOME EXPENSE
DEBIT $| CREDIT § DEBIT $|CREDIT $
Decrease Increase Increase Decrease
Have a go at the question below before you learn about this topic in detail.
ﬁ Debits and credits
".r

Complete the following table relating to the transactions of a bookshop. (The first two are done for you.)

(@)  Purchase of books on credit
(i) accounts payable increase CREDIT accounts payable (increase in liability)
(ii)  purchases expense increases DEBIT ~ purchases (item of expense)
(b)  Purchase of cash register

(i) own a cash register DEBIT  cash register (increase in asset)
(i)  cash at bank decreases CREDIT  cash at bank (decrease in asset)
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(c)  Payment received from a credit customer
() accounts receivable decrease
(i) cashat bank increases

(d)  Purchase of van

(i) own avan
(i) cash at bank decreases

(c)  Payment received from a credit customer
(i) accounts receivable decrease  CREDIT  accounts receivable decrease in asset

(i) cashat bank increases DEBIT  cash at bank increase in asset
(d)  Purchase of van

(i) own avan DEBIT  van increase in asset

(i)  cash at bank decreases CREDIT  cash at bank decrease in asset

How did you get on? Students coming to the subject for the first time often have difficulty in knowing
where to begin. A good starting point is the cash account, ie the nominal ledger account in which receipts
and payments of cash are recorded. The rule to remember about the cash account is as follows.

(@)  Acash payment is a credit entry in the cash account. Here the asset is decreasing. Cash may be
paid out, for example, to pay an expense (such as tax) or to purchase an asset (such as a
machine). The matching debit entry is therefore made in the appropriate expense or asset account.

(b)  Acash receipt is a debit entry in the cash account. Here the asset is increasing. Cash might be

received, for example, by a retailer who makes a cash sale. The credit entry would then be made in
the sales account.

Double entry bookkeeping is the method by which a business records financial transactions. An account
is maintained for every asset, liability, income and expense. Every transaction is recorded twice so that
every debitis balanced by a credit.

4.3 Example: Double entry for cash transactions

In the cash book of a business, the following transactions have been recorded.

(@)  Acash sale (ie a receipt) of $250

(b)  Payment of a rent bill totalling $150
(c)  Buying some goods for cash at $100
(d)  Buying some shelves for cash at $200

How would these four transactions be posted to the ledger accounts and to which ledger accounts should
they be posted? Don't forget that each transaction will be posted twice, in accordance with the rule of
double entry.

Solution

(@)  The two sides of the transaction are:

(i) Cash is received (debit entry in the cash at bank account).
(i) Salesincrease by $250 (credit entry in the sales account).

CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT

$ $
Sales a/c 250
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SALES ACCOUNT

$

Cash a/c

$
250

(Note how the entry in the cash at bank account is cross-referenced to the sales account and vice-versa. This
enables a person looking at one of the accounts to trace where the other half of the double entry can be

found.)

(b)  The two sides of the transaction are:

(i) Cash is paid (credit entry in the cash at bank account).

(i) Rent expense increases by $150 (debit entry in the rent account).

CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT

$ $
Rent a/c 150
RENT ACCOUNT
$ $
Cash at bank a/c 150
(c)  The two sides of the transaction are:
(i) Cash is paid (credit entry in the cash at bank account).
(i) Purchases increase by $100 (debit entry in the purchases account).
CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT
$ $
Purchases a/c 100
PURCHASES ACCOUNT
$ $
Cash at bank a/c 100
(d)  The two sides of the transaction are:
(i) Cash is paid (credit entry in the cash at bank account).
(i) Assets —in this case, shelves — increase by $200 (debit entry in shelves account).
CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT
$ $
Shelves a/c 200
SHELVES (ASSET) ACCOUNT
$ $
Cash at bank a/c 200

4.4 Credit transactions

Some accounts in the nominal ledger represent the total of very many smaller balances. For example,

the trade accounts receivable account represents all the balances owed by individual customers of the
business while the trade accounts payable account represents all money owed by the business to its

suppliers.
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Not all transactions are settled immediately in cash or by cheque. A business can purchase goods or non-
current assets on credit terms, so that the suppliers would be trade accounts payable until settlement was O
made in cash. Equally, the business might grant credit terms to its customers who would then be trade
accounts receivable of the business. Clearly no entries can be made in the cash book when a credit
transaction occurs, because no cash has been received or paid, so where can the details of the
transactions be entered?

The solution to this problem is to use trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable accounts.
When a business acquires goods or services on credit, the credit entry is made in an account designated
'trade accounts payable' instead of in the cash at bank account. The debit entry is made in the appropriate
expense or asset account, exactly as in the case of cash transactions. Similarly, when a sale is made to a
credit customer the entries made are a debit to the total trade accounts receivable account (instead of cash
at bank account) and a credit to sales account.

4.5 Example: Credit transactions

Recorded in the sales day book and the purchase day book are the following transactions.

(@)  The business sells goods on credit to a customer Mr A for $2,000.
(b)  The business buys goods on credit from a supplier B Inc for $100.

How and where are these transactions posted in the ledger accounts?
Solution
(a) TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

$ $
Sales a/c 2,000

SALES ACCOUNT
$ $

Trade accounts receivable 2,000
account

(b) TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

$ $
Purchases a/c 100

PURCHASES ACCOUNT
$ $

Trade accounts payable a/c 100

4.5.1 When cash is paid to suppliers or by customers

What happens when a credit transaction is eventually settled? Suppose that, in the example above, the
business paid $100 to B Inc one month after the goods were acquired. The two sides of this new
transaction are:

(@)  Cashis paid (credit entry in the cash at bank account).

(b)  The amount owing to trade accounts payable is reduced (debit entry in the trade accounts payable
account).
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CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT
$ $

Trade accounts payable a/c 100

TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

$ $
Cash a/c 100

If we now bring together the two parts of this example, the original purchase of goods on credit and the
eventual settlement in cash, we find that the accounts appear as follows.

CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT
$ $
Trade accounts payable a/c 100
PURCHASES ACCOUNT
$ $
Trade accounts payable a/c 100

TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

$ $
Cash at bank a/c 100 Purchases a/c 100

The two entries in trade accounts payable cancel each other out, indicating that no money is owing to
suppliers any more. We are left with a credit entry of $100 in the cash at bank account and a debit entry of
$100 in the purchases account. These are exactly the same as the entries used to record a cash purchase
of $100 (compare example above). This is what we would expect: after the business has paid off its trade
accounts payable, it is in exactly the same position as if it had made a cash purchase, and the accounting
records reflect this similarity.

Similar reasoning applies when a customer settles his debt. In the example above when Mr A pays his
debt of $2,000 the two sides of the transaction are:

(@)  Cashis received (debit entry in the cash at bank account).

(b)  The amount owed by trade accounts receivable is reduced (credit entry in the trade accounts
receivable account).

CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT
$ $

Trade accounts receivable a/c 2,000

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

$ $
Cash at bank a/c 2,000

The accounts recording this sale to, and payment by, Mr A now appear as follows.
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CASH AT BANK ACCOUNT

$ $

Trade accounts receivable a/c 2,000
SALES ACCOUNT
$ $
Trade accounts receivable a/c 2,000
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

$ $ I

Sales a/c 2,000 | Cash at bank a/c 2,000

The two entries in trade accounts receivable cancel each other out; while the entries in the cash at bank
account and sales account reflect the same position as if the sale had been made for cash (see above).

Now try the following questions.

Debit and credit

See if you can identify the debit and credit entries in the following transactions.

Bought a machine on credit from A, cost $8,000.
Bought goods on credit from B, cost $500.

Sold goods on credit to C, value $1,200.

Paid D (a credit supplier) $300.

Collected $180 from E, a credit customer.

Paid wages $4,000.

Received rent bill of $700 from landlord G.

Paid rent of $700 to landlord G.

Paid insurance premium $90.

Received a credit note for $450 from supplier, H
Sent out a credit note for $200 to customer, |

$ $
DEBIT Machine account (non-current asset) 8,000
CREDIT Trade accounts payable 8,000
DEBIT Purchases account 500
CREDIT Trade accounts payable 500
DEBIT Trade accounts receivable 1,200
CREDIT Sales 1,200
DEBIT Trade accounts payable 300
CREDIT Cash at bank 300
DEBIT Cash at bank 180
CREDIT Trade accounts receivable 180
DEBIT Wages account 4,000
CREDIT Cash at bank 4,000
DEBIT Rent account 700
CREDIT Trade accounts payable 700
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(h)  DEBIT Trade accounts payable
CREDIT Cash at bank

() DEBIT Insurance costs
CREDIT Cash at bank

(1) DEBIT Trade accounts payable
CREDIT Purchase returns

(k) DEBIT Sales returns
CREDIT Trade accounts receivable

700

90

450

200

700

90

450

200

Ledger entries

See now whether you can record the ledger entries for the following transactions. Ron Knuckle set up a
business selling keep fit equipment, trading under the name of Buy Your Biceps Shop. He put $7,000 of
his own money into a business bank account (transaction A) and in his first period of trading, the

following transactions occurred.

Transaction
B Paid rent of shop for the period
C Purchased equipment (inventories) on credit
D Raised loan from bank
E Purchase of shop fittings (for cash)
F Sales of equipment: cash
G Sales of equipment: on credit
H Payments for trade accounts payable
I Payments from trade accounts receivable
J Interest on loan (paid)
K Other expenses (all paid in cash)
L Drawings

Try to do as much of this question as you can by yourself before reading the solution.

3,500
5,000
1,000
2,000
10,000
2,500
5,000
2,500
100
1,900
1,500

Clearly, there should be an account for cash at bank, trade accounts receivable, trade accounts payable,

purchases, a shop fittings account, sales, a loan account and a proprietor's capital account. It is also

useful to keep a separate account for drawings until the end of each accounting period. Other accounts
should be set up as they seem appropriate and in this exercise, accounts for rent, bank interest and other

expenses would seem appropriate.

It has been suggested to you that the cash at bank account is a good place to start, if possible. You should
notice that cash transactions include the initial input of capital by Ron Knuckle, subsequent drawings, the
payment of rent, the loan from the bank, the interest, some cash sales and cash purchases, and payments
for trade accounts payable and from trade accounts receivable. (The transactions are identified below by

their reference, to help you to find them.)

CASH AT BANK
$ $
Capital — Ron Knuckle (A) 7,000 | Rent (B) 3,500
Bank loan (D) 1,000 | Shop fittings (E) 2,000
Sales (F) 10,000 | Trade accounts payable (H) 5,000
Trade accounts receivable (1) 2,500 | Bank loan interest (J) 100
Other expenses (K) 1,900
Drawings (L) 1,500
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CAPITAL (RON KNUCKLE)

$ $
Cash at bank (A) 7,000
BANK LOAN
$ $
Cash at bank (D) 1,000
PURCHASES
$ $ I
Trade accounts payable (C) 5,000
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
$ $
Cash at bank (H) 5,000 | Purchases (C) 5,000
RENT
$ $
Cash at bank (B) 3,500
NON-CURRENT ASSETS (SHOP FITTINGS)
$ $
Cash at bank (E) 2,000
SALES
$ $
Cash at bank (F) 10,000
Trade accounts receivable (G) 2,500
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
$ $
Sales (G) 2,500 | Cash at bank (1) 2,500
BANK LOAN INTEREST
$ $
Cash at bank (J) 100
OTHER EXPENSES
$ $
Cash at bank (K) 1,900
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DRAWINGS ACCOUNT

$ $
Cash at bank (L) 1,500

(a) If you want to make sure that this solution is complete, you should go through the transactions A
to L and tick off each of them twice in the ledger accounts, once as a debit and once as a credit.
When you have finished, all transactions in the 'T' account should be ticked.

(b)  Infact, there is an easier way to check that the solution to this sort of problem does 'balance’
properly, which we will meet in the next chapter.

(c)  Onasset and liability accounts, the debit or credit balance represents the amount of the asset or
liability outstanding at the period end. For example, on the cash at bank account, debits exceed
credits by $6,500 and so there is a debit balance of cash in hand of $6,500. On the capital account,
there is a credit balance of $7,000 and so the business owes Ron $7,000.

(d)  The balances on the revenue and expense accounts represent the total of each revenue or expense
for the period. For example, sales for the period total $12,500.

5 The journal

) The journal is the record of prime entry for transactions which are not recorded in any of the other books
of prime entry.

You should remember that one of the books of prime entry was the journal.

Key term The journal keeps a record of unusual movement between accounts. It is used to record any double
entries made which do not arise from the other books of prime entry. For example, journal entries are
made when errors are discovered and need to be corrected.

Whatever type of transaction is being recorded, the format of a journal entry is:

Date Debit Credit
$ $

Account to be debited X

Account to be credited X

(Narrative to explain the transaction)

(Remember: in due course, the ledger accounts will be written up to include the transactions listed in the

journal.)

A narrative explanation must accompany each journal entry. It is required for audit and control, to

indicate the purpose and authority of every transaction which is not first recorded in a book of original

entry.

Exam focus An examination question might ask you to 'journalise' transactions which would not in practice be

point recorded in the journal at all. If you are faced with such a problem, you should simply record the debit

and credit entries for every transaction.

5.1 Examples: Journal entries

The following is a summary of the transactions of Hair by Fiona Middleton hairdressing business of which
Fiona is the sole proprietor.
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1 January Put in cash of $2,000 as capital
Purchased brushes and combs for cash $50
Purchased hair driers from Gilroy Ltd on credit $150
30 January Paid three months rent to 31 March $300
Collected and paid in takings $600

31 January Gave Mrs Sullivan a perm, highlights etc on credit $80

Show the transactions by means of journal entries.

Solution
JOURNAL
$ $

1 January DEBIT Cash at bank 2,000 S
CREDIT  Fiona Middleton — capital account 2,000
Initial capital introduced

1 January DEBIT Brushes and combs account 50
CREDIT  Cash at bank 50
The purchase for cash of brushes and combs as non-current
assets

1 January DEBIT Hair dryer account 150
CREDIT  Sundry accounts payable * 150
The purchase on credit of hair driers as non-current assets

30 January DEBIT Rent account 300
CREDIT  Cash at bank 300
The payment of rent to 31 March

30 January DEBIT Cash at bank 600
CREDIT  Sales account 600
Cash takings

31 January DEBIT Trade accounts receivable 80
CREDIT  Sales account 80

The provision of a hair-do on credit

* Note. Suppliers who have supplied non-current assets are included amongst sundry accounts payable,
as distinct from trade suppliers (who have supplied raw materials or goods for resale) who are trade
accounts payable. It is quite common to have separate 'total accounts payable' accounts, one for trade
accounts payable and another for sundry other accounts payable.

5.2 The correction of errors

The journal is most commonly used to record corrections to errors that have been made in writing up the
nominal ledger accounts. Errors corrected by the journal must be capable of correction by means of a
double entry in the ledger accounts. In other words the error must not have caused total debits and total
credits to be unequal.

Special rules apply when errors are made which break the rule of double entry.

We will deal with errors in Chapter 16.

6 Day hook analysis

) Entries in the daybooks are totalled and analysed before posting to the nominal ledger.
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6.1 Sales day hook

In the previous chapter, we used the following example of four transactions entered into the sales day book.

SALES DAY BOOK
Total amount Boot sales

Date Invoice Customer invoiced Shoe sales
20X0 $ $
Jan 10 247 Jones & Co 105.00 60.00 45.00

248 Smith Ltd 86.40 86.40

249 Alex & Co 31.80 31.80

250 Enor College 1,264.60 800.30 464.30

1,487.80 946.70 541.10

We have already seen that in theory these transactions are posted to the ledger accounts as follows.

DEBIT Trade accounts receivable $1,487.80
CREDIT Sales account $1,487.80

However a total sales account is not very informative, particularly if the business sells lots of different
products. So, using our example, the business might open up a 'sale of shoes' account and a 'sale of
boots' account. Then the ledger account postings are:

$ $
DEBIT Trade accounts receivable 1,487.80
CREDIT Sale of shoes account 541.10
Sale of boots account 946.70

That is why the analysis of sales is kept. Exactly the same reasoning lies behind the analyses kept in the
other books of prime entry.

6.2 Sales returns day hook

We will now look at the sales returns day book from Chapter 4.

SALES RETURNS DAY BOOK
Date Credit note Customer and goods Amount
20X8 $
30 April CR008 Owen Plenty

3 pairs 'Texas' boots 135.00
This will be posted as follows:

$ $

DEBIT Sales returns book 135.00
CREDIT Trade accounts receivable 135.00

6.3 Purchase day hook and purchases returns day hook

The purchase day book and purchases returns day book in Chapter 4 can be posted in a similar way.

6.3.1 Purchases

$ $

DEBIT Purchases 444 .40
Electricity 116.80

CREDIT Trade accounts payable 561.20
6.3.2 Purchase returns

$ $
DEBIT Trade accounts payable 46.60
CREDIT Purchases returns 46.60
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71 The imprest system —

In the last chapter, we saw how the petty cash book was used to operate the imprest system. It is now
time to see how the double entry works.

A business starts with a cash float on 1.3.20X7 of $250. This will be a payment from cash at bank to petty
cash, ie:

DEBIT Petty cash $250

CREDIT Cash at bank $250

Five payments were made out of petty cash during March 20X7. The petty cash book might look as
follows.

Payments
Receipts Date Narrative Tq$tal Poséage Tr%vel
250.00 1.3.X7 Cash
2.3.X7 Stamps 12.00 12.00
8.3.X7 Stamps 10.00 10.00
19.3.X7 Travel 16.00 16.00
23.3.X7 Travel 5.00 5.00
28.3.X7 Stamps 11.50 11.50
250.00 54.50 133.50 21.00

At the end of each month (or at any other suitable interval) the total payments in the petty cash book are
posted to ledger accounts. For March 20X7, $33.50 would be debited to postage account and $21.00 to
travel account. The total payments of $54.50 are credited to the petty cash account. This completes the

double entry.

The cash float needs to be topped up by a payment of $54.50 from the main cash book, ie:

$ $
DEBIT Petty cash 54 .50
CREDIT Cash 54.50

So the rules of double entry have been satisfied, and the petty cash book for the month of March 20X7 will
look like this.

Payments
Receipts Date Narrative Total Postage Travel
$ $ $ $
250.00 1.3.X7 Cash
2.3.X7 Stamps 12.00 12.00
8.3.X7 Stamps 10.00 10.00
19.3.X7 Travel 16.00 16.00
23.3.X7 Travel 5.00 5.00
28.3.X7 Stamps 11.50 11.50
31.3.X7 Balance c/d 195.50 -
250.00 250.00 33.50 21.00
195.50 1.4.X7 Balance b/d
54.50 1.4.X7 Cash

As you can see, the cash float is back up to $250 on 1.4.X7, ready for more payments to be made.

The petty cash account in the ledger will appear as follows.

PETTY CASH
$ $
1.3.20X7 Cash 250.00 31.3.20X7 Payments 54.50
1.4.20X7 Cash 5450 1.4.20X7 Balance c/d 250.00
304.50 304.50
1.4.20X7 Balance b/d 250.00
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/@ Petty cash

Summit Glazing operates an imprest petty cash system. The imprest amount is $150.00. At the end of the
period the totals of the four analysis columns in the petty cash book were as follows.

$
Column 1 23.12
Column 2 6.74
Column 3 12.90
Column 4 28.50

How much cash is required to restore the imprest amount?

$71.26. This is the total amount of cash that has been used.

8 The receivables and payables ledgers

) The receivables and payables ledgers contain the personal accounts of individual customers and
suppliers. They do not normally form part of the double-entry system.

8.1 Impersonal accounts and personal accounts

The accounts in the nominal ledger (ledger accounts) relate to types of income, expense, asset, liability —
rent, sales, trade receivables, payables etc — rather than to the person to whom the money is paid or from
whom it is received. They are therefore called impersonal accounts. However, there is also a need for
personal accounts, most commonly for receivables and payables, and these are contained in the
receivables ledger and payables ledger.

8.2 The receivables ledger

The sales day book provides a chronological record of invoices sent out by a business to credit
customers. For many businesses, this might involve very large numbers of invoices per day or per week.
The same customer might appear in several different places in the sales day book, for sales made on
credit at different times. So a customer may owe money on several unpaid invoices.

In addition to keeping a chronological record of invoices, a business should also keep a record of how
much money each individual credit customer owes, and what this total debt consists of. The need for a
personal account for each customer is a practical one.

(@) A customer might telephone, and ask how much he currently owes. Staff must be able to tell him.

(b)  Itisacommon practice to send out statements to credit customers at the end of each month,
showing how much they still owe, and itemising new invoices sent out and payments received
during the month.

(c)  The managers of the business will want to keep a check on the credit position of an individual
customer, and to ensure that no customer is exceeding his credit limit by purchasing more goods.

(d)  Mostimportant is the need to match payments received against debts owed. If a customer makes a
payment, the business must be able to set off the payment against the customer's debt and
establish how much he still owes on balance.

Key term The receivables ledger is a ledger for customers' personal accounts.

Receivables ledger accounts are written up as follows.
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(@)  When entries are made in the sales day book (invoices sent out), they are subsequently also made
in the debit side of the relevant customer account in the receivables ledger.

(b)  Similarly, when entries are made in the cash book (payments received), or in the sales returns day
book, they are also made in the credit side of the relevant customer account.

Each customer account is given a reference or code number, and it is that reference which appears in the
sales day book. We say that amounts are posted from the sales day book to the receivables ledger.

Here is an example of how a receivables ledger account is laid out.

ENOR COLLEGE
A/cno:RL9
$ $
Balance b/f 250.00
10.1.X0 Sales — SDB 48
(invoice no 250) 1,264.60  Balance c/d 1,514.60
1,514.60 1,514.60
11.1.X0 Balance b/d 1,514.60

The debit side of this personal account, then, shows amounts owed by Enor College. When Enor pays
some of the money it owes it will be entered into the cash book (receipts) and subsequently 'posted’ to the
credit side of the personal account. For example, if the college paid $250 on 10.1.20X0, it would appear as
follows.

ENOR COLLEGE
A/cno:RLY
$ $
Balance b/f 250.00 10.1.X0 Cash 250.00
10.1.X0 Sales — SDB 48

(invoice no 250) 1,264.60 Balance c/d 1,264.60
1,514.60 1,514.60

11.1.X0 Balance b/d 1,264.60

The opening balance owed by Enor College on 11.1.X0 is now $1,264.60 instead of $1,514.60, because of
the $250 receipt which came in on 10.1.X0.

8.3 The payables ledger

The payables ledger, like the receivables ledger, consists of a number of personal accounts. These are
separate accounts for each individual supplier, and they enable a business to keep a continuous record of
how much it owes each supplier at any time.

The payables ledger is a ledger for suppliers' personal accounts.

After entries are made in the purchase day book, cash book, or purchase returns day book — ie after
entries are made in the books of prime entry — they are also made in the relevant supplier account in the
payables ledger. Again we say that the entries in the purchase day book are posted to the suppliers'
personal accounts in the payables ledger.

Here is an example of how a payables ledger account is laid out.

COOK & CO
A/c no: PL 31
$ $
Balance c/d 515.00 Balance b/f 200.00
15 Mar 20X8
Invoice received
PDB 37 315.00
515.00 515.00
16 March 20X8
Balance b/d 515.00
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The credit side of this personal account, then, shows amounts owing to Cook & Co. If the business paid

Cook & Co some money, it would be entered into the cash book (payments) and subsequently be posted
to the debit side of the personal account. For example, if the business paid Cook & Co $100 on 15 March
20X8, it would appear as follows:

COOK & CO
A/c no: PL 31
$ $
15.3.X8 Cash 100.00 Balance b/f 200.00
15.3.X8 Invoice received
Balance c/d 415.00 PDB 37 315.00
515.00 515.00
16.3.X8  Balance b/d 415.00

The opening balance owed to Cook & Co on 16 March 20X8 is now $415.00 instead of $515.00 because
of the $100 payment made during 15 March 20X8.

The remainder of the balance brought forward of $100.00 ($200.00 brought forward less payment of
$100.00) is in dispute and Cook & Co send the business a credit note for $100.00 on 17 March 20X8.

COOK & CO
A/c no: PL 31
$ $
17.3.X8 Credit note received 100.00 16.3.X8 Balance b/f 415.00
Balance c/d 315.00
415.00 415.00
12.3.X8 Balance b/d 315.00

The business now owes Cook & Co the amount of the invoice received on 15 March 20X8.

Important Please note that, in a manual system, the account is not 'balanced off' after each transaction. It is more

likely to be done once a month. However, we have done this to show the effect of the transactions.
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Chapter Roundup

o Ledger accounts summatrise all the individual transactions listed in the books of prime entry.

o The principal accounts are contained in a ledger called the general or nominal ledger.

o The accounting equation emphasises the equality between assets and liabilities (including capital as
a liability).

. You should now be aware that, when business transactions are accounted for it should be possible to
restate the assets and liabilities of the business after the transactions have taken place.

3 Trade accounts payable are liabilities. Trade accounts receivable are assets.

o The matching convention requires that revenue earned is matched with the expenses incurred in earning it.

o Double entry bookkeeping is based on the idea that each transaction has an equal but opposite effect. Every
accounting event must be entered in ledger accounts both as a debit and as an equal but opposite credit.

o A debit entry will:

- increase an asset
- decrease a liability
- increase an expense

A credit entry will:

- decrease an asset
= increase a liability
- increase income

o Some accounts in the nominal ledger represent the total of very many smaller balances. For example, the
trade accounts receivable account represents all the balances owed by individual customers of the
business while the trade accounts payable account represents all money owed by the business to its
suppliers.

o The journal is the record of prime entry for transactions which are not recorded in any of the other books
of prime entry.

. Entries in the daybooks are totalled and analysed before posting to the nominal ledger.

o In the last chapter, we saw how the petty cash book was used to operate the imprest system. It is now
time to see how the double entry works.

o The receivables and payables ledgers contain the personal accounts of individual customers and
suppliers. They do not normally form part of the double-entry system.
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1 What is the double entry to record a cash sale of $50?
2 What is the double entry to record a credit sale of $50?
A Debit cash $50, credit sales $50
B Debit receivables $50, credit sales $50
C Debit sales $50, credit receivables $50
D Debit sales $50, credit cash $50
3 What is the double entry to record a purchase of office chairs for $1,000?
A Debit non-current assets $1,000, credit cash $1,000
B Debit cash $1,000, credit purchases $1,000
4 What is the double entry to record a credit sale of $500 to A?
A Debit receivables $500, credit sales $500
B Debit receivables ledger (A’s account) $500, credit sales $500
5 Name one reason for making a journal entry.
6 Individual customer accounts are kept in which ledger?
A General ledger
B Trade accounts receivable
C Receivables ledger
D Nominal ledger

1 $ $
DEBIT Cash a/c 50
CREDIT Sales a/c 50
2 B
3 A
4 A The receivables ledger is a memorandum account and not part of the double entry system.
5 Most commonly to correct an error, although it can be used to make any entry that is not recorded in a

book of prime entry (eg prepayments, accrued expenses, depreciation).
6 C The receivables ledger contains the individual customer accounts. The general ledger (A) and
nominal ledger (D) are different names for the same ledger. This contains the trade accounts
receivable account (B) which is the total of all the individual customer accounts.

Now try the question below from the Exam Question Bank

Q9 Examination 1 1 min
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From trial balance to
financial statements

Topic list Syllabus reference

1 The trial balance C2(d), E1(a)—(d)

2 The income statement A3(a)

3 The statement of financial position A3(a)

4 Balancing accounts and preparing financial statements C2(d), A3(a)
Introduction

In the previous chapter you learned the principles of double entry and how to
post to the ledger accounts. The next step in our progress towards the financial
statements is the trial balance.

Before transferring the relevant balances at the year end to the income
statement and putting closing balances carried forward into the statement of
financial position, it is usual to test the accuracy of double entry bookkeeping
records by preparing a list of account balances. This is done by taking all the
balances on every account; because of the self-balancing nature of the system
of double entry, the total of the debit balances will be exactly equal to the
total of the credit balances.

In very straightforward circumstances, where no complications arise and where
the records are complete, it is possible to prepare accounts directly from a trial
balance. This is covered in Section 4.




Study guide

A3 The main elements of financial reports

(a) Understand and identify the purpose of each of the main financial 1
statements.

C2 Ledger accounts, books of prime entry and journals

(d) [llustrate how to balance and close a ledger account 1

E1 Trial balance

(a) Identify the purpose of a trial balance. 1

(b) Extract ledger balances into a trial balance. 1

(c) Prepare extracts of an opening trial balance. 1

(d) Identify and understand the limitations of a trial balance. 1

Exam guide

Exam questions at all levels in financial accounting can involve preparation of final accounts from a trial
balance. Last but not least, you may end up having to do it in 'real life'.

1 The trial balance

) At suitable intervals, the entries in each ledger account are totalled and a balance is struck. Balances are
usually collected in a trial balance which is then used as a basis for preparing an income statement and a
statement of financial position.

You have a list of transactions, and have been asked to post them to the relevant ledger accounts. You do
it as quickly as possible and find that you have a little time left over at the end of the day. How do you
check that you have posted all the debit and credit entries properly?

There is no foolproof method, but a technique which shows up the more obvious mistakes is to prepare a
trial balance.

Key term A trial balance is a list of ledger balances shown in debit and credit columns.

1.1 The first step

Before you draw up a list of account balances, you must have a collection of ledger accounts. For the sake
of convenience, we will use the accounts of Ron Knuckle, which we drew up in the previous chapter.

CASH AT BANK
$ $
Capital: Ron Knuckle 7,000 | Rent 3,500
Bank loan 1,000 | Shop fittings 2,000
Sales 10,000 | Trade accounts payable 5,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,500 | Bank loan interest 100
Other expenses 1,900
Drawings 1,500
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CAPITAL (RON KNUCKLE)
$ $
Cash at bank 7,000
BANK LOAN
$ $
Cash at bank 1,000
PURCHASES
$ $
Trade accounts payable 5,000
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
$ $
Cash at bank 5,000 | Purchases 5,000
RENT
$ $
Cash at bank 3,500
SHOP FITTINGS
$ $
Cash at bank 2,000
SALES
$ $
Cash at bank 10,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,500
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
$ $
Sales 2,500 | Cash at bank 2,500
BANK LOAN INTEREST
$ $
Cash at bank 100
OTHER EXPENSES
$ $
Cash at bank 1,900
DRAWINGS
$ $
Cash at bank 1,500

The next step is to 'balance’ each account.
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1.2 Balancing ledger accounts

At the end of an accounting period, a balance is struck on each account in turn. This means that all the
debits on the account are totalled and so are all the credits. If the total debits exceed the total credits
there is said to be a debit balance on the account; if the credits exceed the debits then the account has
a credit balance.

In our simple example, there is very little balancing to do.

(@)  Both the trade accounts payable and the trade accounts receivable balance off to zero.
(b)  The cash at bank account has a debit balance of $6,500.
(c)  The total on the sales account is $12,500, which is a credit balance.

CASH AT BANK
$ $
Capital: Ron Knuckle 7,000 | Rent 3,500
Bank loan 1,000 | Shop fittings 2,000
Sales 10,000 | Trade accounts payable 5,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,500 | Bank loan interest 100
Other expenses 1,900
Drawings 1,500
14,000
Balancing figure — the amount of
cash left over after payments have
been made 6,500
20,500 20,500
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
$ $
Cash at bank 5,000 | Purchases 5,000
SALES
$ $
Cash at bank 10,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,500
12,500
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
$ $
Sales 2,500 | Cash at bank 2,500

Otherwise, the accounts have only one entry each, so there is no totalling to do to arrive at the balance on
each account.

1.3 Collecting the bhalances

If the basic principle of double entry has been correctly applied throughout the period it will be found that
the credit balances equal the debit balances in total. This can be illustrated by collecting together the
balances on Ron Knuckle's accounts.
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Debit Credit

$ $
Cash at bank 6,500
Capital 7,000
Bank loan 1,000
Purchases 5,000
Trade accounts payable - _
Rent 3,500
Shop fittings 2,000
Sales 12,500
Trade accounts receivable - -
Bank loan interest 100
Other expenses 1,900
Drawings 1,500

20,500 20,500

This is called a trial balance. It does not matter in what order the various accounts are listed. It is just a
method used to test the accuracy of the double entry bookkeeping.

1.4 What if the trial balance shows unequal debit and credit balances?

) A trial balance can be used to test the accuracy of the accounting records. It lists the balances on ledger
accounts and totals them. Total debits should equal total credits.

If the two columns of the list are not equal, there must be an error in recording the transactions in the
accounts. A list of account balances, however, will not disclose the following types of errors.

(@)  The complete omission of a transaction, because neither a debit nor a credit is made.

(b)  The posting of a debit or credit to the correct side of the ledger, but to a wrong account.

(c)  Compensating errors (eg an error of $100 is exactly cancelled by another $100 error elsewhere).
(d)

Errors of principle, eg cash from receivables being debited to trade accounts receivable and
credited to cash at bank instead of the other way round.

1.5 Example: Trial balance

As at 30.3.20X7, your business has the following balances on its ledger accounts.

Accounts Balance
$
Bank loan 12,000
Cash at bank 11,700
Capital 13,000
Local business taxes 1,880
Trade accounts payable 11,200
Purchases 12,400
Sales 14,600
Sundry payables 1,620
Trade accounts receivable 12,000
Bank loan interest 1,400
Other expenses 11,020
Vehicles 2,020

During the year the business made the following transactions.

(@)  Bought materials for $1,000, half for cash and half on credit
(b)  Made $1,040 sales, $800 of which was for credit
(c)  Paid wages to shop assistants of $260 in cash

You are required to draw up a trial balance showing the balances as at the end of 31.3.X7.
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Solution

First it is necessary to decide which of the original balances are debits and which are credits.

Account Dr Cr
$ $
Bank loan (liability) 12,000
Cash at bank (asset; overdraft = liability) 11,700
Capital (liability) 13,000
Local taxes (expense) 1,880
Trade accounts payable (liability) 11,200
Purchases (expense) 12,400
Sales (revenue) 14,600
Sundry payables (liability) 1,620
Trade accounts receivable (asset) 12,000
Bank loan interest (expenses) 1,400
Other expenses 11,020
Vehicles (non-current asset) 2,020
52,420 52,420
Now we must take account of the effects of the three transactions which took place on 31.3.X7.
$ $
(@)  DEBIT Purchases 1,000
CREDIT Cash at bank 500
Trade accounts payable 500
(b)  DEBIT Cash at bank 240
Trade accounts receivable 800
CREDIT  Sales 1,040
(c) DEBIT Other expenses 260
CREDIT Cash at bank 260
When these figures are included in the trial balance, it becomes:
Account Dr Cr
$ $
Bank loan 12,000
Cash at bank (11,700 + 240 — 500 — 260) 11,180
Capital 13,000
Local taxes 1,880
Trade accounts payable (11,200 + 500) 11,700
Purchases (12,400 + 1,000) 13,400
Sales (14,600 + 1,040) 15,640
Sundry payables 1,620
Trade accounts receivable (12,000 + 800) 12,800
Bank loan interest 1,400
Other expenses (11,020 + 260) 11,280
Vehicles 2,020
53,960 53,960

2 The income statement

FAST FORWARD . : . . :
_) An income and expense ledger account is opened up to gather all items relating to income and expenses.

When rearranged, these items make up the income statement.

The first step in the process of preparing the financial statements is to open up another ledger account,
called the income and expense account. In it a business summarises its results for the period by

gathering together all the ledger account balances relating to the income statement. This account is still
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part of the double entry system, so the basic rule of double entry still applies: every debit must have an
equal and opposite credit entry.

This income and expense account contains the same information as the financial statement we are aiming
for, ie the income statement, and in fact there are very few differences between the two. However, the
income statement lays the information out differently and it may be much less detailed.

So what do we do with this new ledger account? The first step is to look through the ledger accounts and
identify which ones relate to income and expenses. In the case of Ron Knuckle, these accounts consist of
purchases, rent, sales, bank loan interest, and other expenses.

The balances on these accounts are transferred to the new income and expense account. For example, the
balance on the purchases account is $5,000 DR. To balance this to zero, we write in $5,000 CR. But to
comply with the rule of double entry, there has to be a debit entry somewhere, so we write $5,000 DR in
the income and expense (I & E) account. Now the balance on the purchases account has been moved to

the income and expense account. EEE
If we do the same thing with all the separate accounts of Ron Knuckle dealing with income and expenses,
the result is as follows.
PURCHASES
$ $
Trade account payables 5,000 | | & Ealc 5,000
RENT
$ $
Cash at bank 3,500 | | & Ealc 3,500
SALES D
$ $
| & Ea/c 12,500 | Cash at bank 10,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,500
12,500 12,500
BANK LOAN INTEREST
$ $
Cash at bank 100 [ | & Ea/c 100
OTHER EXPENSES
$ $
Cash at bank 1,900 [ | &Ea/c 1,900
INCOME AND EXPENSE ACCOUNT
$ $
Purchases 5,000 | Sales 12,500
Rent 3,500
Bank loan interest 100
Other expenses 1,900

(Note that the income and expense account has not yet been balanced off but we will return to that later.)

If you look at the items we have gathered together in the income and expense account, they should strike
a chord in your memory. They are the same items that we need to draw up the income statement.

ﬁ Income statement

Draw up Ron Knuckle's income statement.
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RON KNUCKLE: INCOME STATEMENT

$ $
Sales 12,500 Trading
Cost of sales (= purchases in this case) 5,000) } account
Gross profit 7500 <
Expenses
Rent 3,500 Income and
Bank loan interest 100 > expenditure
Other expenses 1,900 account
(5,500)
Net profit 2,000 )

3 The statement of financial position

) The balances on all remaining ledger accounts (including the income and expense account) can be listed
and rearranged to form the statement of financial position.

Look back at the ledger accounts of Ron Knuckle. Now that we have dealt with those relating to income
and expenses, which ones are left? The answer is that we still have to find out what to do with the cash,
capital, bank loan, trade accounts payable, shop fittings, trade accounts receivable and the drawings
accounts.

Are these the only ledger accounts left? No: don't forget there is still the last one we opened up, called the
income and expense account. The balance on this account represents the profit earned by the business,
and if you go through the arithmetic, you will find that it has a credit balance — a profit — of $2,000. (Not
surprisingly, this is the figure that is shown in the income statement.)

These remaining accounts must also be balanced and ruled off, but since they represent assets and
liabilities of the business (not income and expenses) their balances are not transferred to the income and
expense account. Instead they are carried down in the books of the business. This means that they
become opening balances for the next accounting period and indicate the value of the assets and liabilities
at the end of one period and the beginning of the next.

The conventional method of ruling off a ledger account at the end of an accounting period is illustrated by
the bank loan account in Ron Knuckle's books.

BANK LOAN ACCOUNT
$ $
Balance carried down (c/d) 1,000 | Cash (D) 1,000
Balance brought down (b/d) 1,000

Ron Knuckle therefore begins the new accounting period with a credit balance of $1,000 on this account.
A credit balance brought down denotes a liability. An asset would be represented by a debit balance
brought down.

One further point is worth noting before we move on to complete this example. You will remember that a
proprietor's capital comprises any cash introduced by him, plus any profits made by the business, less
any drawings made by him. At the stage we have now reached, these three elements are contained in
different ledger accounts: cash introduced of $7,000 appears in the capital account; drawings of $1,500
appear in drawings; and the profit made by the business is represented by the $2,000 credit balance on
the income and expense account. It is convenient to gather together all these amounts into one capital
account, in the same way as we earlier gathered together income and expense accounts into one income
and expense account.
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If we go ahead and gather the three amounts together, the results are as follows.

DRAWINGS
$ $
Cash at bank 1,500 | Capital a/c 1,500
INCOME AND EXPENSE ACCOUNT
$ $
Purchases 5,000 [ Sales 12,500
Rent 3,500
Bank loan interest 100
Other expenses 1,900
Capital a/c 2,000
12,500 12,500
CAPITAL
$ $
Drawings 1,500 | Cash at bank 7,000
Balance c/d 7,500 | | & Ealc 2,000
9,000 9,000
Balance b/d 7,500
f Statement of financial position
»
You can now complete Ron Knuckle's simple statement of financial position.

RON KNUCKLE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT END OF FIRST TRADING PERIOD

Assets $
Non-current assets

Shop fittings 2,000
Current assets

Cash at bank 6,500
Total assets 8,500
Capital and liabilities
Proprietor's capital 7,500
Non-current liabilities

Bank loan 1,000
Total capital and liabilities 8,500

When a statement of financial position is drawn up for an accounting period which is not the first one,
then it ought to show the capital at the start of the accounting period and the capital at the end of the
accounting period. This will be illustrated in the next example.

In an examination question, you might not be given the ledger accounts — you might have to draw them up
in the first place. That is the case with the following exercise — see if you can do it by yourself before
looking at the solution.
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4 Balancing accounts and preparing financial
statements

The exercise which follows is by far the most important in this text so far. It uses all the accounting steps
from entering up ledger accounts to preparing the financial statements. It is very important that you try
the question by yourself: if you do not, you will be missing out a vital part of this text.

Exam focus
point At the 2009 ACCA Teachers' Conference, the examiner emphasised the need to practise full length
questions in order to fully understand the techniques involved.
ﬁ Financial statements
’,,r

A business is established with capital of $2,000, and this amount is paid into a business bank account by
the proprietor. During the first year's trading, the following transactions occurred:

$
Purchases of goods for resale, on credit 4,300
Payments to trade accounts payable 3,600
Sales, all on credit 5,800
Payments from trade accounts receivable 3,200
Non-current assets purchased for cash 1,500
Other expenses, all paid in cash 900

The bank has provided an overdraft facility of up to $3,000.
Required

Prepare the ledger accounts, an income statement for the year and a statement of financial position as at
the end of the year.

The first thing to do is to open ledger accounts so that the transactions can be entered up. The relevant
accounts which we need for this example are: cash at bank; capital; trade accounts payable; purchases;
non-current assets; sales; trade accounts receivable and other expenses.

The next step is to work out the double entry bookkeeping for each transaction. Normally you would write
them straight into the accounts, but to make this example easier to follow, they are first listed below.

Debit Credit
(@) Establishing business ($2,000) Cash at bank Capital
(b) Purchases ($4,300) Purchases Trade accounts payable
(c) Payments to trade accounts payable Trade accounts Cash at bank
($3,600) payable
(d) Sales ($5,800) Trade accounts receivable Sales
(e) Payments from trade accounts receivable  Cash at bank Trade accounts receivable
($3,200)
(f)  Non-current assets ($1,500) Non-current assets Cash at bank
(g9) Other (cash) expenses ($900) Other expenses Cash at bank
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So far, the ledger accounts will look like this.

CASH AT BANK
$ $
Capital 2,000 | Trade accounts payable 3,600
Trade account receivables 3,200 | Non-current assets 1,500
Other expenses 900
CAPITAL
$ $
Cash at bank 2,000
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE —
$ $
Cash at bank 3,600 | Purchases 4,300
PURCHASES
$ $
Trade accounts payable 4,300
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
$ $ I
Cash at bank 1,500
SALES
$ $
Trade accounts receivable 5,800
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
$ $
Sales 5,800 | Cash at bank 3,200
OTHER EXPENSES
$ $
Cash at bank 900

The next thing to do is to balance all these accounts. It is at this stage that you could, if you wanted to,
draw up a trial balance to make sure the double entry is accurate. There is not very much point in this

simple example, but if you did, it would look like this.

Cash at bank

Capital

Trade accounts payable
Purchases

Non-current assets

Sales

Trade accounts receivable
Other expenses

Dr Cr
$ $
800
2,000
700
4,300
1,500
5,800
2,600
900
9,300 9,300
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After balancing the accounts, the income and expense account should be opened. Into it should be

transferred all the balances relating to income and expense (ie purchases, other expenses, and sales). At
this point, the ledger accounts will be as follows.

CASH AT BANK
$ $
Capital 2,000 | Trade accounts payable 3,600
Trade accounts receivable 3,200 [ Non-current assets 1,500
Balance c/d 800 | Other expenses - 900
6,000 6,000
Balance b/d 800>

* A credit balance b/d means that this cash item is a liability, not an asset. This indicates a bank overdraft

of $800, with cash income of $5,200 falling short of payments of $6,000 by this amount.

CAPITAL
$ $
Balance c/d 2,600 [ Cash at bank 2,000
| &Ealc 600
2,600 2,600
TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
$ $
Cash at bank 3,600 | Purchases 4,300
Balance c/d 700
4,300 4,300
Balance b/d 700
PURCHASES ACCOUNT
$ $
Trade accounts payable 4300 | I&Ealc 4,300
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
$ $
Cash at bank 1,500 | Balance c/d 1,500
Balance b/d 1,500
SALES
$ $
| & Ealc 5,800 5,800
TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
$ $
Sales 5,800 | Cash at bank 3,200
Balance c/d 2,600
5,800 5,800
Balance b/d 2,600
OTHER EXPENSES
$ $
Cash at bank 900 | I&Ea/c 900
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INCOME AND EXPENSE ACCOUNT

$ $
Purchases account 4,300 | Sales 5,800
Gross profit ¢/d 1,500
5,800 5,800
Other expenses 900 | Gross profit b/d 1,500
Net profit (transferred to capital
account) 600
1,500 1,500
So the income statement will be:
INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD
$
Sales 5,800
Cost of sales (purchases) 4,300
Gross profit 1,500
Expenses 900
Net profit 600
Listing and then rearranging the balances on the ledger accounts gives the statement of financial position
as:
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD
Assets $ §
Non-current assets 1,500
Current assets
Trade accounts receivable 2,600
Total assets 4,100
Capital and liabilities
Capital
At start of period 2,000
Net profit for period 600
At end of period 2,600
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 800
Trade accounts payable 700
1,500
Total capital and liabilities 4,100
Exam focus
point The above example is highly detailed. This detail is given to help you to work through the example

properly. You may wish to do things this way yourself until you get more practised in accounting
techniques and are confident enough to take short cuts.

The techniques are worth practising as you may well get a MCQ requiring you to calculate a figure for the
income statement or statement of financial position from a trial balance.
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% Opening trial balance

Alpha has the following opening balances on its ledger accounts.

$

Fixtures 5,000
Trade accounts receivable 2,000
Bank account 1,000
Loan 3,000
(@)  What is the total assets figure?

A $6,000

B $5,000

C $8,000

D $3,000
(b)  What is the opening figure for capital?

A $6,000

B $5,000

C $8,000

D $3,000

(@ C Assets = 5,000 + 2,000 + 1,000

8,000

assets — liabilities

(5,000 + 2,000 + 1,000) — 3,000
5,000

() B Capital

Chapter Roundup

° At suitable intervals, the entries in each ledger account are totalled and a balance is struck. Balances are
usually collected in a trial balance which is then used as a basis for preparing an income statement and a
statement of financial position.

° A trial balance can be used to test the accuracy of the double entry accounting records. It works by
listing the balances on ledger accounts, some of which will be debits and some credits. The total debits
should equal total credits.

° An income and expense ledger account is opened up to gather all items relating to income and expenses.
When rearranged, the items make up the income statement.

° The balances on all remaining ledger accounts (including the income and expense account) can be listed
and rearranged to form the statement of financial position.
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What is the purpose of a trial balance?
A trial balance may still balance if some of the balances are wrong.
Is this statement correct?

A Yes
B No

In a period, sales are $140,000, purchases $75,000 and other expenses $25,000. What is the figure for net
profit to be transferred to the capital account?

A $40,000
B $65,000
C $75,000
D $140,000

The balance on an expense account will go to the | & E account. However, the balance on a liability
account is written off to capital.
Is this statement correct?

A Yes
B No

The balance brought forward on the bank account is a debit figure. This means that the balance is
overdrawn. True or false?
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Answers to Quick Quiz

1 To test the accuracy of the double entry bookkeeping.
2 A See Section 1.4.
3 A INCOME & EXPENSE ACCOUNT
$ $
Purchases 75,000 | Sales 140,000
Gross profit ¢/d 65,000
140,000 140,000
Other expenses 25,000 | Gross profit b/d 65,000
Net profit — to capital a/c 40,000
65,000 65,000
B is the gross profit figure, while C is the figure for purchases and D sales.
4 B When an expense account is balanced off, the balance is transferred to the income and expense

account. When a liability account is balanced off, the balance is carried forward to the next

accounting period.

5 False. A debit balance b/f is an asset and means that the bank account is not overdrawn.

Now try the question below from the Exam Question Bank

Q10

Examination 2

2 mins
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Topic list Syllabus reference

1 The nature of sales tax and how it is collected

D1(c)~(d)

2 Accounting for sales tax

D1(d)

Introduction

Many business transactions involve sales tax (eg VAT in the UK). Invoices and

bills show any sales tax charged separately.

Sales tax is charged on the supply of goods and services. It is an indirect tax.

Section 1 explains how sales tax works.

Section 2 deals with the accounting treatment of sales tax. If you understand
the principle behind the tax and how it is collected, you will understand the

accounting treatment.
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Study guide

D1 Sales and purchases

(c) Understand the general principles of the operation of a sales tax.

(d) Calculate sales tax on transactions and record the consequent accounting
entries.

Exam guide

This topic could well be examined as part of another topic eg whether sales tax needs to be included when
accounting for non-current assets. Be prepared for a range of rates to be used in the exam.

1 The nature of sales tax and how it is collected

) Sales tax is an indirect tax levied on the sale of goods and services. It is usually administered by the local

tax authorities.

1.1 How is sales tax levied?

Sales tax is a cumulative tax, collected at various stages of a product's life. In the illustrative example

below, a manufacturer of a television buys materials and components and then sells the television to a
wholesaler, who in turn sells it to a retailer, who then sells it to a customer. It is assumed that the rate for
sales tax is 15% on all items. All the other figures are for illustration only.

1.2 Example

(@ (i) Manufacturer purchases raw materials
and components
(i)  Manufacturer sells the completed television
to a wholesaler
The manufacturer hands over to tax authorities
(b) (i) Wholesaler purchases television for
(i) Wholesaler sells television to a retailer
Wholesaler hands over to tax authorities

(c) (i) Retailer purchases television for
(i)  Retailer sells television
Retailer hands over to tax authorities

(d) Customer purchases television for

Price net
of sales tax

40

200

200
320

320
480

480

Sales tax

15%

6

30
24
30
48
18
48
72
24
72

Total
price

46

230

230
368

368
552

552

The total tax of $72 is borne by the ultimate consumer. However, the tax is handed over to the authorities
in stages. If we assume that the sales tax of $6 on the initial supplies to the manufacturer is paid by the

supplier, the tax authorities would collect the sales tax as follows.

Supplier of materials and components
Manufacturer

Wholesaler

Retailer

Total sales tax paid
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1.3 Input and output sales tax

Sales tax charged on goods and services sold by a business is referred to as output sales tax. Sales tax
paid on goods and services 'bought in' by a business is referred to as input sales tax.

If output sales tax exceeds input sales tax, the business pays the difference in tax to the authorities. If
output sales tax is less than input sales tax in a period, the tax authorities will refund the difference to the
business.

The example above assumes that the supplier, manufacturer, wholesaler and retailer are all sales tax
registered traders.

A sales tax registered trader must carry out the following tasks.
(@)  Charge sales tax on the goods and services sold at the rate prescribed by the government. This is
output sales tax.

(b)  Pay sales tax on goods and services purchased from other businesses. This is input sales tax.

(c)  Pay to the tax authorities the difference between the sales tax collected on sales and the sales tax
paid to suppliers for purchases. Payments are made at quarterly intervals.

1.4 Irrecoverable sales tax

There are some circumstances in which traders are not allowed to reclaim sales tax paid on their inputs. In
these cases the trader must bear the cost of sales tax and account for it accordingly. So the cost of
expenses and any non-current assets purchased will include any irrecoverable sales tax.

Where sales tax is not recoverable it must be regarded as part of the cost of the items purchased and
included in the I/S charge or in the statement of financial position as appropriate.

2 Accounting for sales tax

Registered businesses charge output sales tax on sales and suffer input sales tax on purchases. Sales tax
does not affect the income statement, but is simply being collected on behalf of the tax authorities to
whom a quarterly payment is made.

2.1 Income statement

A business does not make any profit out of the sales tax it charges. It therefore follows that its income
statement figures should not include sales tax. For example, if a business sells goods for $600 + sales tax
$90, ie for $690 total price, the sales account should only record the $600 excluding sales tax. The
accounting entries to record the sale would be as follows.

DEBIT Cash or trade receivables $690
CREDIT Sales $600
CREDIT Sales tax payable (output sales tax) $90

If input sales tax is recoverable, the cost of purchases should exclude the sales tax and be recorded net of
tax. For example, if a business purchases goods on credit for $400 + sales tax $60, the transaction would
be recorded as follows.

DEBIT Purchases $400
DEBIT Sales tax payables (input sales tax recoverable) $60
CREDIT Trade payables $460

If the input sales tax is not recoverable, the cost of purchases must include the tax, because it is the
business itself which must bear the cost of the tax.
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Purchases
Income statement

Irrecoverable input sales tax: include
Recoverable input sales tax: exclude

Sales
Exclude sales tax

2.2 Sales tax in the cash hook, sales day hook and purchase day book

When a business makes a credit sale the total amount invoiced, including sales tax, will be recorded in the
sales day book. The analysis columns will then separate the sales tax from the sales income of the

business as follows.

Date

A Detter and Sons

Sales
Total income
$ $
230 200

Sales tax

$
30

When a business is invoiced by a supplier the total amount payable, including sales tax, will be recorded in
the purchase day book. The analysis columns will then separate the recoverable input sales tax from the

net purchase cost to the business as follows.
Date

A Splier (Merchants)

When receivables pay what they owe, or payables are paid, there is no need to show the sales tax in an
analysis column of the cash book, because input and output sales tax arise when the sale is made, not

when the debt is settled.

Total Purchase
$ $
184 160

Sales tax

$
24

However, sales tax charged on cash sales or sales tax paid on cash purchases will be analysed in a
separate column of the cash book. This is because output sales tax has just arisen from the cash sale and

must be credited to the sales tax payables in the ledger accounts. Similarly input sales tax paid on cash

purchases, having just arisen, must be debited to the sales tax payable.

For example, the receipts side of a cash book might be written up as follows.
Analysis columns

Date Narrative

A Detter & Sons
Owen

Cash sales
Newgate Merchants
Cash sales

Total

$
230
660
322
184

92

1,488

Sales Cash
ledger sales
$ $

230

660
280

184
- 80
1,074 360

The payments side of a cash book might be written up as follows.

Date Narrative

A Splier (Merchants)
Telephone bill paid

Cash purchase of stationery
Sales tax paid to tax authorities
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Total

184
138
46
1,400
1,768

Output sales
tax on cash
sales

$

Analysis columns

Cash
purchases
Purchase and sun-
ledger dry items
$ $
184
120
40
- 1,400
184 1,560

Input sales

tax on cash

purchases
$

18
6
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Sales tax

Are trade receivables and trade payables shown in the accounts inclusive of sales tax or exclusive of sales
tax?

They are shown inclusive of sales tax, as the statement of financial position must reflect the total amount
due from receivables and due to payables.

A small element of sales tax is quite likely in questions. It is worth spending a bit of time ensuring that you
understand the logic behind the way sales tax is accounted for, rather than trying to learn the rules by rote.
This will ensure that even if you forget the rules, you will be able to work out what should be done.

2.3 Payable for sales tax
An outstanding payable for sales tax will appear as a current liability in the statement of financial position.

The sales tax paid to the authorities each quarter is the difference between recoverable input sales tax on
purchases and output sales tax on sales. For example, if a business is invoiced for input sales tax of
$8,000 and charges sales tax of $15,000 on its credit sales and sales tax of $2,000 on its cash sales, the
sales tax payable account would be as follows.

SALES TAX PAYABLE
$
Payables (input sales tax) 8,000 Receivables (output sales
Cash (payment to authorities) 9,000 tax invoiced) 15,000
Cash (output sales tax on cash sales) 2,000
17,000 17,000

Payments to the authorities do not coincide with the end of the accounting period of a business, and so at
the reporting date there will be a balance on the sales tax payable account. If this balance is for an amount
payable to the authorities, the outstanding payable for sales tax will appear as a current liability in the
statement of financial position.

Occasionally, a business will be owed money back by the authorities, and in such a situation, the sales tax
refund owed by the authorities would be a current asset in the statement of financial position.

Sales tax payable
A business in its first period of trading charges $4,000 of sales tax on its sales and suffers $3,500 of sales

tax on its purchases which include $250 sales tax on business entertaining. Prepare the sales tax payable
account.

SALES TAX PAYABLE ACCOUNT

$ $
Payables 3,250  Receivables 4,000
Balance c/d (owed to tax authorities) 750
4,000 4,000
Balance b/d 750
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The main points

(@)  Credit sales

(i) Include sales tax in sales day book;
separately

(i) Include gross receipts from
receivables in cashbook; no need to
show sales tax separately

(iii)  Exclude sales tax element from
income statement

(iv)  Credit sales tax payable with output
sales tax element of receivables
invoiced

(c)  Cash sales
(i) Include gross receipts in cashbook;
show sales tax separately
(i)  Exclude sales tax element from
income statement
(iii)  Credit sales tax payable with output
sales tax element of cash sales

(b)

Credit purchases

(i)
(ii)

Cash purchases

(i)

Include Sales tax in purchases day
book; show it separately

Include gross payments in cashbook;
no need to show sales tax separately
Exclude recoverable sales tax from
income statement

Include irrecoverable sales tax in
income statement

Debit sales tax payable with
recoverable input sales tax element
of credit purchases

Include gross payments in cashbook:
show sales tax separately

Exclude recoverable sales tax from
income statement

Include irrecoverable sales tax in
income statement

Debit sales tax payable with
recoverable input sales tax element
of cash purchases

Exam focus

point rate will always to be given.

In sales tax questions, remember to check the tax rate used. If you are required to calculate sales tax, the
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Chapter Roundup

. Sales tax is an indirect tax levied on the sale of goods and services. It is usually administered by the local
tax authorities.

. If output sales tax exceeds input sales tax, the business pays the difference in tax to the authorities. If
output sales tax is less than input sales tax in a period, the tax authorities will refund the difference to the
business.

o Where sales tax is not recoverable, for any of the reasons described above, it must be regarded as part of
the cost of the items purchased and included in the I/S charge or in the statement of financial position as
appropriate.

. Registered businesses charge output sales tax on sales and suffer input sales tax on purchases. Sales tax
does not affect the income statement, but is simply being collected on behalf of the tax authorities to
whom a quarterly payment is made.

o An outstanding payable for sales tax will appear as a current liability in the statement of financial position.

1 Sales tax is:

A A direct tax levied on sales of goods and services

B An indirect tax levied on the sales of goods and services
C Administered by the Treasury

D Charged by businesses on taxable supplies

2 Sales tax is due on all sales. Is this statement correct?
A Yes
B No
3 When sales tax is not recoverable on the cost of a motor car, it should be treated in which of the following
ways?
A Deducted from the cost of the asset capitalised
B Included in the cost of the asset capitalised

C Deducted from output tax for the period
D Written off to I/S as an expense

4 Purchases of goods costing $500 subject to sales tax at 15% occur. Which of the following correctly
records the credit purchase?
A Debit Purchases $500.00
Debit Sales tax $75.00
Credit Payables $575.00
B Debit Purchases $575.00
Credit Payables $575.00
C Debit Purchases $436.78
Debit Sales tax $65.22
Credit  Payables $500.00
D Debit Purchases $500.00
Credit Sales tax $65.22
Credit Payables $434.78
5 A business purchases goods valued at $400. Sales tax is charged at 15%. The double entry to record the
purchase is:
Debit e $o,
Debit e, $
Credit oo S,
6 Fill in the blanks.
Input sales tax iS ....ccceveevevveeireieveesienns , output sales tax is .....coevvveerereeeeeeee, .
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7 When a cash sale is made for $115.00 (including sales tax at 15%) the entries made are:

Debit e, account S,
Credit oo account S
Credit e account S,
8 When a cash purchase of $115.00 is made (including sales tax at 15%) the entries are:
A Debit Purchases 115.00
Credit Cash 115.00
B Debit Purchases 100.00
Debit Sales tax 15.00
Credit Cash 115.00
C Debit Cash 100.00
Debit Sales tax 15.00
Credit Purchases 115.00
D Debit Cash 115.00
Credit Purchases 115.00
9 The sales tax paid to the tax authorities each quarter is the difference between ..........cccoevvveiicieinnn,
........................................ AN oo et s

1

B Correct

A Incorrect, the consumer has a choice as to whether or not to consume so sales tax is only
chargeable when this choice is exercised.

C Incorrect, sales tax is administrated by the tax authorities.

D Only sales tax registered traders can charge sales tax.

B Sales tax is only due on taxable outputs.

B Correct the statement of financial position value will therefore include sales tax and the
depreciation charge will rise accordingly

A Incorrect, it must be added.

C Incorrect.

D Incorrect, the motor car is a non-current asset not an expense, sales tax will form part of the

depreciable amount of the asset.

A Correct, recoverable input tax is debited to the sales tax a/c and the purchases account is debited
net of sales tax.

B Incorrect, the sales tax has not been reclaimed.
C Incorrect, the $500 is subject to sales tax.
D Incorrect, reversal of the sales tax transaction has occurred.
DEBIT: PURCHASES $400
SALES TAX $60
CREDIT: CASH or PAYABLES $460

Input sales tax is sales tax suffered on goods and services brought by a business, output sales tax is the
sales tax collected on sales.

DEBIT Cash account $115.00

CREDIT Sales account $100.00
CREDIT Sales tax account $15.00
B

The sales tax paid to the tax authorities each quarter is the difference between output sales tax collected
on sales and input sales tax suffered on purchases and expenses.

Now try the question below from the Exam Question Bank

Q11 Examination 2 2 mins

m 7:Salestax | PartD Recording transactions and events @:J

LEARNING MEDIA



Topic list Syllabus reference

1 Cost of goods sold D3(a)

2 Accounting for opening and closing inventories D3(a), (b)

3 Counting inventories D3(f)

4 Valuing inventories D3(c), (9), (i)

5 1AS 2 Inventories D3(d), (e), (h)
Introduction

Inventory is one of the most important assets in a company's statement of
financial position. As we will see, it also affects the income statement, having a
direct impact on gross profit.

So far you have come across inventories in the preparation of a simple
statement of financial position. Here we will look at in the calculation of the cost
of goods sold. This chapter also explores the difficulties of valuing
inventories.

This is the first time that you will be required to consider the impact of the
relevant International Accounting Standard on the valuation and presentation
of an item in the accounts: IAS 2 Inventories.




Study guide

D3 Inventory

(a) Recognise the need for adjustments for inventory in preparing financial 1
statements.

(b) Record opening and closing inventory 1

(c) Identify the alternative methods of valuing inventory 1

(d) Understand and apply the IASB requirements for valuing inventories 1

(e) Recognise which costs should be included in valuing inventories 1

() Understand the use of continuous and period end inventory records 1

(9) Calculate the value of closing inventory using FIFO (first in, first out) and 1
AVCO (average cost)

(h) Understand the impact of accounting concepts on the valuation of inventory 1

(i) Identify the impact of inventory valuation methods on profit and on assets 1

Exam guide

You will definitely be examined on inventories. You might have to calculate closing inventory or cost of
sales.

1 Cost of goods sold
| pasTFoRvARD ) 4 The cost of goods sold is calculated as:

Opening inventory + purchases — closing inventory.

1.1 Unsold goods in inventory at the end of an accounting period

Goods might be unsold at the end of an accounting period and so still be held in inventory. The purchase
cost of these goods should not be included therefore in the cost of sales of the period.

1.2 Example: Closing inventory

Perry P Louis, trading as the Umbrella Shop, ends his financial year on 30 September each year. On 1
October 20X4 he had no goods in inventory. During the year to 30 September 20X5, he purchased 30,000
umbrellas costing $60,000 from umbrella wholesalers and suppliers. He resold the umbrellas for $5 each,
and sales for the year amounted to $100,000 (20,000 umbrellas). At 30 September there were 10,000
unsold umbrellas left in inventory, valued at $2 each.

What was Perry P Louis's gross profit for the year?

Solution

Perry P Louis purchased 30,000 umbrellas, but only sold 20,000. Purchase costs of $60,000 and sales of
$100,000 do not represent the same quantity of goods.

The gross profit for the year should be calculated by 'matching' the sales value of the 20,000 umbrellas
sold with the cost of those 20,000 umbrellas. The cost of sales in this example is therefore the cost of
purchases minus the cost of goods in inventory at the year end.
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$ $

Sales (20,000 units) 100,000
Purchases (30,000 units) 60,000
Less closing inventory (10,000 units @ $2) 20,000
Cost of sales (20,000 units) 40,000
Gross profit 60,000

1.3 Example continued

We shall continue the example of the Umbrella Shop into its next accounting year, 1 October 20X5 to 30
September 20X6. During the course of this year, Perry P Louis purchased 40,000 umbrellas at a total cost
of $95,000. During the year he sold 45,000 umbrellas for $230,000. At 30 September 20X6 he had 5,000
umbrellas left in inventory, which had cost $12,000.

What was his gross profit for the year?

Solution

In this accounting year, he purchased 40,000 umbrellas to add to the 10,000 he already had in inventory at
the start of the year. He sold 45,000, leaving 5,000 umbrellas in inventory at the year end. Once again,
gross profit should be calculated by matching the value of 45,000 units of sales with the cost of those
45,000 units.

The cost of sales is the value of the 10,000 umbrellas in inventory at the beginning of the year, plus the
cost of the 40,000 umbrellas purchased, less the value of the 5,000 umbrellas in inventory at the year end.

$ $

Sales (45,000 units) 230,000
Opening inventory (10,000 units) * 20,000
Add purchases (40,000 units) 95,000

115,000
Less closing inventory (5,000 units) 12,000
Cost of sales (45,000 units) 103,000
Gross profit 127,000

* Taken from the closing inventory value of the previous accounting year, see paragraph 1.3.

1.4 The cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold is found by applying the following formula.

Formula to $
learn Opening inventory value X T
Add cost of purchases (or, in the case of a manufacturing company, the
cost of production) X
X
Less closing inventory value (X)
Equals cost of goods sold X

In other words, to match 'sales' and the 'cost of goods sold', it is necessary to adjust the cost of goods
manufactured or purchased to allow for increases or reduction in inventory levels during the period.

The 'formula’ above is based on a logical idea. You should learn it, because it is f